Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

# The Social Experiences of Older Adults in Serviced Apartments

A thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Psychology

at Massey University [Palmerston North],

New Zealand

Jodie Hajdu

#### **Abstract**

The focus of this study was to understand the social lives of older adults living in serviced apartments. As an increasingly available housing option within the growing retirement village lifestyle market, serviced apartments are an unexplored area for social research in New Zealand.

To support this inquiry participants were recruited from two retirement villages providing serviced apartment in the Nelson/Tasman region. Seven participants responded, including four females and three males. Individual semi-structured interviews were conducted asking participants about their social lives and how shifting into a serviced apartment had impacted on their social worlds.

Three themes emerged relating to social networks, participation in activities, and dependency. Participants talked of their meaningful interactions with old friends and regular contact with family members, who are important areas of practical and emotional support.

Residents often visited their friends outside their home, while their apartments were used as a place to rest and be alone. The activities offered by the retirement villages are multiple and cater to the interest of participants, who resorted to these options when community activities were no longer accessible. The impact of physical decline and loss of transport increased dependency on the retirement villages to provide assistance and access to the community.

These findings were supported by the literature and provided support for two major theories of adaptation to ageing. The implications of this research suggest a risk for loneliness among new serviced apartment residents without previous connections to residents within the retirement villages, and a loss of in-person contact with friends as physical decline limits residents' ability to participate.

The thesis concludes that, overall, participants are satisfied with their social lives and are able to adapt to changes in their physical abilities in ways that aim to maintain meaningful social interaction and participation.

# Acknowledgements

Thank you to Christine Stephens, my supervisor, for the guidance, grounding and support you provided throughout this process.

To the participants who generously gave their time and experiences to this research, thank you so much for sharing your experiences with me. Also, to the managers of the retirements villages for being interested and welcoming to this research, without your support this research would not have taken place.

Thank you to Uncle Danny for making this all happen. Thanks to my support network, all the people who helped me along the way, the family and friends who offered an ear and a shoulder to me over the course of this project. In particular, I want to thank my main man Ewan, who missed out on many evenings of games and fun while Mum was studying.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract		ii
Acknowledgements		iv
List of Tables		vii
Introduction		1
	The Older New Zealander	1
	Policies	2
	Health and Wellbeing Among Older Adults	5
	Social Participation Among Older Adults	9
	Theories of Ageing	26
	Retirement Villages	32
Theoretical Perspectives and Methodology		42
	Ontology and Epistemology	42
	Methodological Approach	43
	Method	44
	Data Analysis	51
	Research Rigour	52
Analysis		55
	Theme: Contact	55
	Theme: Participation in Social Activities	72
	Theme: Dependency	77
	A Brief Discussion on Covid-19	83
Discussion		86
	Part One: The Social Lives of Older Adults in Serviced Apartments	86
	Part Two: Theoretical Explanations	92

Implications	94
Future Directions	94
Limitations of the Current Study	96
Conclusion	
Reference list	
Appendices	
Appendix A	132
Appendix B	135
Appendix C	137
Appendix D	141

# List of tables

 Table 1 ... Participant pseudonyms, ages, and residences prior to shift
 46

#### Introduction

#### The Older New Zealander

The proportion of the population aged 65 years and older have been rapidly increasing withing the developed world, with New Zealand demographics following these trends.

Statistics New Zealand website data (2020) report that in the year of 2020, the number of those aged 65 years and older is roughly 15% with this figure projected to rise by 2034 to 21%. This increase in ageing and longevity has resulted from better standards of living and advances in medicine that enabled reductions in the spread of infectious diseases and more effective treatment of common age-related illness, such as chronic heart disease (Wilmoth, 2000). Additionally, birth rates have reduced decade on decade since the end of the second World War, except for the 1970's (Pool, & Du Plessis, 2021), leading to an increasingly aged population, with the largest birth rate cohort, those born between 1946 and 1964, currently entering their retirement years.

Life expectancy for New Zealanders as of 2019 is an average of 80 years of Males and 83.5 years for females, which make up an increased longevity of 2 and 1.3 years, respectively (Statistics New Zealand, 2021). It is important to note however that increases in life expectancy are not representative of all groups of New Zealanders, and while all ethnic groups have increase in life expectancy, Māori and Pasifika groups continue to experience lower life expectancies in comparison to citizens of European descent. Māori male and female have life expectancies of 73.4 and 77.1 years respectively, while Pasifika rates are 73.4 and 79 years for men and woman (Statistics New Zealand, 2021). These differences have gradually been staling over the years, yet they do reflect ongoing discrepancies relating to health, poverty, and ongoing equitable access to public healthcare and supports (Blakely, et al., 2007).

An ageing population carries consequences for government and individuals, with the increased life expectancy and a general retirement age of 65 years, there is a large proportion of time in which older adults are potentially out of employment. Following retirement, some individuals might spend a large proportion of time out of work relative to years worked (Davey & Davies, 2006), this creates a financial load upon those governments that provide fiscal assistance to retired workers and public health care services, such as New Zealand's government offers. Additional pressures imposed upon countries with higher proportions of an out of work and ageing population include ensuring adequate housing and living standards is available to facilitate ageing in place (Davey et al., 2004), healthcare resources are available to meet age-related illness (Flett et al., 1999), and communities designed to facilitate the daily activities of older adults in inclusive ways that promote health and independence (Neville et al., 2021).

#### **Policies**

With the recognition that additional resources and infrastructure will be needed to accommodate an ageing population, local and international policies are concerned with mediating the additional resources that an ageing population require (Glasgow, 2014; Stenner et al., 2011). To moderate these burdens, policies have sought to shift perspectives of older adults as autonomous, independent, and healthy agents as opposed to the dependent, declining and care requiring persons that had prevailed among western societies prior to turn of the century (Makita et al., 2021; & Stephens, 2017). These shifts to more positive perspectives of ageing orientate to active policies of ageing.

The World Health Organisations Active Ageing (2002) framework promotes enhanced quality of life for older adults and the enablement of participation in their preferred social, spiritual, economic, cultural, and civics roles activities. Important within this framework is the positive role older adults have within society and the recognition of the

continued contribution older adults have as active members of their communities, whilst acknowledging the need to facilitate ongoing and meaningful connection to important others in the lives of older adults.

Policies in New Zealand have focused on the uptake of health promoting behaviours, with the Better Later Life strategy (Martin, 2019) and the Healthy Aging strategy (2016) being examples of initiatives that recognise the positive outcomes that are desired for older adults. Important elements within both strategies includes understanding of the importance of social participation and connection with others. The New Zealand Disability Strategy (2019) is also an important part of New Zealand's policies for older adults, as they do have higher rates of disability across age demographics, particularly for Māori elders (Ministry of Health, 2018).

Government policies on positive ageing focus on the multidimensional nature what positive ageing entails, this includes such factors as financial security, autonomy and independence, health, safety and security, attitudes to ageing, and the physical environment (Dalziel, 2001; Glasgow, 2013). Risks created by deficits any one of these areas is the increase of social exclusion and reduced participation (Dahan-Oliel et al., 2008) which can diminish quality of life. The current Labour government introduced the Better Later Life strategy in 2019 to replace the former Positive Ageing strategy, with the latter focused on preparation for an ageing population and the former outlining the steps for the recognised demographic changes (Martin, 2019). Within the Better Later Life Strategy key focal points are financial security and ongoing economic participation through upskilling and flexible work times, the promotion of healthy ageing through positive media and combating ageist discourses, providing adequate and secure housing choices, enhancing opportunities for participation through use of technologies as a means for social connection, and creating environments that are accessible and safe for older peoples (Martin, 2019).

The Better Later Life Strategy works along other government strategies to ensure that the diverse needs of older adults are catered to, within their cultural spheres (Martin, 2019). The Health Ageing Strategy (Ministry of Health, 2016) recognises that older adults often experience health concerns greater to other age demographics and sets about the plan to address the reported concerns of older adults within the community.

While New Zealand has no official age of retirement, the majority of citizens chose to leave paid employment around the time they qualify for the New Zealand Superannuation scheme (Statistics New Zealand, 2020). Currently entitlement sets in at age 65, although some do continue to remain employed beyond this time, with roughly 6% of the paid labour force comprised of those aged 65 years and older (Statistics New Zealand, 2020). The New Zealand superannuation provides a fortnightly guaranteed income that allows entitled individuals to continue to meet living costs and is designed to supplement other forms of retirement income.

As is apparent, those aged 65 years and older represent a vast age span, and as such are not homogenous as a group (Flett et al., 1999). As with any population of peoples, great variability exists in terms of functioning and health amongst individuals, with same aged individuals having vastly different functionally ability to one another (World Health Organisation, 2002). These functional variations, along with differences in ethnicity and social economic factors results in greatly different health outcomes and mortality (House, 2002; Stephens et al., 2010; Bassuk et al., 2002). The successful ageing narrative, championed by Rowe and Kahn (1987) promoted the notion that while psychosocial factors contribute to the health profiles and functionality of older adults, the onus on outcome is mostly individually determined.

Within the successful aging narrative, those who experience decline in relation to health and functionality can experience guilt and a sense of failure for their poorer outcomes

(Cole, 1992). The successful ageing narrative has helped to reduce aged stigma related to decline, however it has been accused of ignoring micro-macro life span factors which contribute to ageing 'successfully' (Stowe & Cooney, 2015). Stephens (2017) argues for taking a more capability-based approach to ageing and health with focus on achieving valued functioning through focused social policies over individual-orientated frameworks and policies which set generalised definitions of successful ageing. Likewise, income discrepancies and lower living standards that create inequality of access to healthcare and resources for different economically placed older adults (Falkingham & Johnson, 1992), however as revealed in longitudinal research conducted by Szabó et al. (2019) health and wealth prior to retirement is not a guarantee of continued health post retirement.

# **Health and Wellbeing Among Older Adults**

# Physical Health

The current generation of older adults are experiencing greater longevity and increased health compared to prior aged cohorts, which is resultant of better access to medical care, nutrition, and economic improvements (Cutler & Meara, 2001). While recognising the strides made in health and longevity, it is important to note the variability in the health status and well-being among older adults. When considering the role health and wellness in the older adult population recognition of the multi-faceted nature of internal factors and external influences on health is important in making sense of how one can function within their surroundings. The international classification of functioning, disability and health offers a framework through which to understand the limitations that a person faces in their body, their ability to participate and their choice of activities due to their individual health conditions, while also recognising contextual factors on an environmental and personal level (Martins et al., 2012). Health conditions for older adults are multi ranging, with common morbidities including arthritis, heart disease, stroke, chronic pain, and diabetes

(Ministry of Health, 2016) with these generally higher among older age groups then younger cohorts. Falls are a particular issue for older adults (ACC New Zealand, 2021), with greater rates of hospitalisation for women over men (Stevens & Sogolow, 2005) and greater impacts on the independence, mobility, and quality of life (Weeks & Roberto, 2003; Roe et al., 2008).

While many older adults maintain relatively good health for longer, the incident of illness grows with age (Bowling, 1993), with diminished sight, hearing and immune functioning tending to worsen with age (Jaul & Barron, 2017). In looking into how physical disability impacts quality of life for older adults, Grist (2010) showed that factors such as age of onset of disability factored in the adaptation and quality of life for older adults. Being able to successfully navigate life with increased limitations of physicality requires adjustment of self and environment to enable continued access and engagement. Having communities developed in ways that support engagement is important, as accessibility to buildings without appropriate ramps or elevators, uneven sidewalk and poor public transport are known factors that make social participation difficult for older adults with physical limitation (Caman et al., 2014).

# Mental Health

Mental illness is an important area of concern across all age groups. For older adults the lifetime risk of having or having been diagnosed with a mental illness sits around 47% for those aged 75 years and older (Oakley Browne, 2006). While rates of mental illness are greater among younger aged populations, mental illnesses are a concern for many older adults, having significant effects on quality of life and wellbeing. Oakley Browne (2006) identified sex-based differences in experiences of psychological disorders, with older females experiencing depression and anxiety, while older men had higher rates of substance use disorders. Suicide is lower among older adults but as with younger cohorts, older men have higher rates of suicides then women, with mood disorders often associated with suicidality

(Barak et al., 2020; Beautrais, 2002). This suggests that while mood disorders are more common among older females, the risk of suicide for older males with mood disorders is higher.

Experiences that accompany older age are risk factors can increase incidence of mental illness for older adults. With older age often associated with some form of physical decline and loss of loved ones, the grief that can accompany these losses can increase the risk of mental illness (Kennedy et al., 1990; Ostir et al., 2007; Shear et al., 2013). Additionally, low levels of social support from family or feelings of social isolation increased incidence of mental illness (Singer, 2018; Kwag et al., 2011). The causality dilemma is important to bring up in relation to functionality, mental illness and maintaining individual quality of life standards (Singer, 2018). There are greater incidents of mental illness among those with sudden onset physical disability (Turner et al., 2006), likewise the opposite is true with physical disability increased among those with mental illnesses (Osborn, 2001). Age-related functional decline and mental illness can contribute to reductions in the participation of older adults in the community, a limiting of engagement in social activities (Patterson, 1996), as well as cause difficulties in remaining in the home and community (Bekhet et al., 2009).

#### Cognitive Health

Understanding cognitive functions for older adults is not as simple as comparing current abilities with younger age abilities as cognitive functioning changes throughout the lifespan are normal (Craik & Bialystok, 2006). However, for non-normative changes in cognitive abilities for older adults, common causes for impairment are stroke (McDonnell et al., 2011) and dementia, of which the most common form is Alzheimer's disease (Sadock et al., 2014). Alzheimer's and other forms of dementia, including Lewy's bodies, Parkinsonian dementia and vascular dementia affect brain regions resulting in often progressive and devastating declines in functioning and cognition (Sadock et al., 2014).

Examination of the effects of changing functional abilities on the social participation of older adults and conversely the impact of social participation on functional ability and mental well-being helps create understanding of the contextual factors on health and wellbeing is desired. Tomioka et al. (2018) examined how different forms of social participation related to incidence of cognitive decline among cognitively intact older adults. They found increased participation in local events within neighbourhoods appeared to be preventative of cognitive decline for men, while volunteering and hobby activities were related to lower cognitive decline for women after three years.

Many older adults remain cognitively capable of making decisions and engaging autonomously in their chosen lifestyles. Yet the presence of cognitive decline leads to challenges in performing activities of daily activities (Luo et al., 2019). This can be distressing for individuals and can be further stigmatising with social labels of older adults as senile, from within age (Krendl & Wolford, 2013) and across age groups (Bai, 2014).

Continued engagement with community settings and activities is limited for those with dementia, with anxiety and confusion increasingly making out of home excursion difficult for these individuals (Ciofi et al., 2022). The need for support in social engagement and activities varies with the degree of cognitive decline, however the ability to continue to participate in meaningful activities on an independent level and with assistance from others is recognised as important to the health and wellbeing of older adults with dementia (Struge et al., 2021; Ciofi et al., 2022). The role of insight the individual has in relation to their changing cognitive abilities has been shown to factor into quality of life for those with dementias (Trigg et al., 2011).

# Social Health

Humans are group-oriented creatures (Ferguson & Oz-Salzberger, 1995).

Throughout the lifespan relationships with others is a fundamental element of healthy growth

and development (Santrock, 2015). As has been discussed, difficulties in physical, mental, and cognitive functioning can have significant impact on the quality of life for older adults (Caman et al., 2014; Patterson, 1996; Luo et al., 2019). Research has documented the relationship of social engagement to health and mental health. Reported beneficial effects of social engagement on health and psychological well-being include decreased rates of mortality (Berkman, & Syme, 2007: Rozzini, et al., 1991), slowing of functional decline (Mendes de Leon et al., 2003), higher levels of happiness and quality of life (Thompson & Heller, 1990), fewer depressive symptoms (Cacioppo & Cacioppo, 2014), and decreased risk for cognitive impairment (Bassuk et al., 1999). However, Levasseur et al. (2004) found a weak relationship between quality of life and social participation, with the role a person plays in their social world being of more importance than total number of daily activities.

As the connection between physical, mental, and cognitive health is tied to the social experiences and quality of life for older adults. Examining the social participation of older adults and the various biopsychosocial elements that impact upon health and wellbeing outcomes helps to understand what wider factors influence positive ageing.

#### **Social Participation Among Older Adults**

Social participation can roughly be defined as "the person's involvement in activities providing interactions with others in society or the community" (Levasseur et al., 2010, p2.). Yet, social participation is notoriously ill defined within the literature, with concepts of social activities, social engagement and social networks often being used with social participation interchangeably (Levasseur, et al., 2010). Social participation is increasingly conceptualised as contingent upon the personal satisfaction obtained with participation (Aroogh & Shahboulaghi, 2020; Levasseur et al., 2010). While personal satisfaction and meaningful participation are important aspects in quality of life (Levasseur et al., 2010), focusing only on subjective satisfaction through social participation limits the scope of what social

participation is and diminishes the impacts of functional decline and mood disorders on satisfying participation (Goll et al., 2015). Likewise, feelings of accomplishment related to social participation is not comparable to feelings of personal satisfaction obtained (Levasseur et al., 2010), thus it is important the diversity of experiences that make up social participation is acknowledged, alongside the individuals' gains from participation. The forms of social participation older adults undertake, as well as the meanings older adults assign to participation across biopsychosocial dimensions helps to guide the following investigation on social participation among older adults.

#### Social Networks

Older adult's social networks involve communal and interpersonal connections nurtured throughout the life course, and which impact upon the psychosocial wellbeing of individuals (Espinosa-Alarcón et al., 2010). The social convoy model describes the differing levels of closeness in the personal networks of individuals as they move throughout their life and are demarcated by the differences in attachment to and roles within different social networks (Fiori et al., 2007). Therefore, the structure, function, and quality of social network have subjective levels of meaning and impact upon on a person. Examples of networks include marriage and family, friendships, religious and community forms, and can be supportive, unsupportive or have a shifting dynamic across the life course (Fiori et al., 2007). The extent to which individuals interact and sustain social networks is influenced by multiple factors including attachment style (Ainsworth & Bowlby, 1991; Andersson & Stevens, 1993), functional ability and health (Ertel et al., 2009). In terms of interactions and friendship, there are different degrees to which one might experience closeness and companionship from others; Johnson and Troll (1994) identify four types of friends, close, casual, club and helpers, these various relational types are helpful to acknowledge that, while an individual may be considered close in one sphere of a person's life, they may lack closeness in other

domains. Different social networks often provide varying forms of support for older adults. Friends and family both offer support albeit different ways, with family often providing more intimate forms of care, such as physical cares while friends often supported through companionships and practical services, such as transport and assistance with shopping and housework (Potts, 1997).

How contact is maintained with social networks varies as a person ages, i.e., adult children might move away, siblings living elsewhere and visiting friends complicated by physical decline. Keeping in contact with social networks can take various forms, face to face, email, and phone, etc. Research conducted by Teo et al. (2015) examined how various forms of contact related to incidence of depression among older adults. They found that frequency of face-to-face contact decreased depressive symptoms over a two year follow up period. However, they caveat their results with the recognition that not all personal interactions are positive, with interpersonal conflict impacting upon wellbeing (Teo at al., 2015). Family and friend relationships form a major part of older adult social participation, particularly among the widowed (Kang & Ahn, 2018); yet these dynamics are experienced differently. Life satisfaction appears tied to the quality friendships and those positive family relationships (O'Connor, 1995), with friendships built on shared interest and compatible personality (Huxhold et al., 2014). Given the complexities of familial relationships, the importance of maintaining connections with supportive family members appears to influence wellbeing. While older adults often utilise family members as areas of support, the degree to which they act as supporters themselves for their own family is important to recognise, with older adults often supporting adult children with care of grandchildren (Hughes et al., 2007). The importance of reciprocity in familial support and positive interactions with family members was noted as an important factor in social relationships for older adults, particularly as a means of reducing feelings of burden (Morgan et al., 2021).

Older adults are noted as having smaller social networks in comparison to younger age groups (Cummings & Henry, 1961; Hochschild, 1975), often as the result of the death of friends and spouses. While some research has indicated that death of loved ones and living alone can increase loneliness among older adults (d'Epinay et al., 2003), satisfaction among social networks in older adults is greater than younger cohorts (Ferreira-Alves, et al., 2014). Social network size decreases are not synonymous with perceptions of declined social support for older adults, with subjective reports of support increasing with age (Schnittker, 2007; Lang & Carstensen, 1994). The perception of social support and satisfaction within a social network can be influenced by personality types, with traits of extraversions and conscientiousness being linked to satisfying social relationships even among depressed older adults (Cukrowicz et al., 2007), although others have found no significant link between personality traits and reported emotional satisfaction among social networks (Lang et al., 1998).

Additionally, social comparison (Buunk et al., 2007), attachment style (Andersson & Stevens, 1993), functional and cognitive decline (Hajek et.al., 2021), and living alone (Djundeva et al., 2019) have been identified as determinates of satisfying social relationship within networks and wellbeing for older adults. Consequently, unsupportive or lack of integration into social networks are attributed to increased mortality and poorer rehabilitation, particularly post injury (Berkman, 2000), and increases in experiences of social isolation and loneliness (Ferreira-Alves et al., 2014; Nicholson, 2012).

Social network composition and personal factors have been shown to influence the extent to which positive interactions and subjective satisfaction from social interactions is obtained. The importance of supportive social networks and social participation increases wellbeing and helps moderate the impact of grief and shrinking social networks. Even though social circles are smaller in older adults, support and satisfaction is high, with family and

friends being chief providers of supports. Given this, it is important to further examine the factors that influence social participation for older adults.

# Factors Influencing Social Participation

Facilitators of social participation for older adults relate to those factors that help to promote new and ongoing opportunities for social participation within the sphere of the older adults' abilities and environments. Facilitators include family and friends who live close by, maintaining an active driver's license or good public transportation, and elder-friendly sidewalks and building access (Herron et al., 2020). Familiarity with surroundings is also an important factor in social participation, with local knowledge and years of residence relating to better environmental fit and participation in social activities (Levasseur et al., 2015).

As social participation relates to the extent that one engages in activities with others, the decision to leave the workforce is a major influence in social participation. Although New Zealand has no official age of retirement, leaving employment generally occurs when eligibility for the superannuation is met at age 65 (New Zealand Government, 2020). Census data showed that roughly 22 percent of older adults remained in some form of part-time employment (Statistics New Zealand, 2013). Following retirement there is generally an uptake in leisure pursuits, while some chose to spend their extra time volunteering or caring for grandchildren (Statistics New Zealand, 2015). Retirement has a major impact upon a person's life (Van Tilburg, 2003) and is an important transition period, with employment having taken up a significant portion of adults' life. For many, employment is a major part of social participation, with co-workers being major social contact (Nahum-Shani & Bamberger, 2011), as such, the sudden loss of this social engagement can lead to adjustment and depressive issuess. Shiba et al. (2017) found that among Japanese males, those who retired completely from work at age 65 reported higher levels of depressive symptoms when compared to those who maintained some form of employment or who engaged in recreational

social activities. Post-retirement wellbeing is informed by expectations of what life post-work will look like (Taylor et al., 2008), with retirement planning, the amount identity is tied to work-status, and the successful substitutions of meaningful activities following retirement (Ungvarsky, 2021) impacting on wellbeing post retirement.

Cultural membership also informs social participation among older adults. Morgan et al. (2021) showed that older adults tend to associate with culturally familiar others. Social participation for indigenous elders is beneficial for the continuation of cultural knowledge and practices through the generations, with elders able to share their expertise and wisdom with younger generations. The importance of sharing cultural knowledge for older indigenous individuals is shown to have positive impacts on the mental health and well-being (Viscogliosi et al., 2020). However, barriers at the societal level for cultural minorities or migrants can result in limited access to care and support services (Verhagen et al., 2013) and less social integration resulting in poorer health outcomes and social isolation (Nyqvist et al., 2021).

Socioeconomic status (SES) relates to the standards of living and social standing of an individual in relation to others within society. Housing standards, educational status, and income factor into socioeconomic status, however the extent to which this impacts upon satisfaction with social networks is varied, with older adults reporting SES having less of an impact on subjective wellbeing, and SES being less of a concern for older adults then younger cohorts (Pinquart & Sorensen, 2001). However, Stephens et al. (2011) found social network access and subsequent health and wellbeing was determined largely through socioeconomic resource access, such as healthcare and opportunities for participation.

Socioeconomic access create space in which inclusion and exclusionary behaviours are enforced among individuals, Nielson et al. (2019) found that among retirement village residents, access to preferred activities were often permitted based on group membership and

those on the fringes often feeling shunned and stigmatised, with declines in health perpetuating amplifying social exclusion. This concept of inclusion and exclusion based on access to resources reflects social class relationships, or the benefits ones gives and receives through social integration and participation in both formal and leisure pursuits, such as church, charity affiliations and sporting groups (Berkman, 2000; Robison et al., 2002; Lindström et al., 2001). Access to capital and successful integration into social groups is often determined by adherence to the behavioural norms of the groups (Reimer et al., 2008). The importance of conforming to group norms can facilitate access to activities but may also exclude one from other pursuits out of the acceptable group norms (Nielson et al., 2019) while exclusion or limited access is often due to minority status (Li, 2004), and disability (Goll et al., 2015). While subjective reports of wellbeing might not be directly determined by SES, older adults' resources and ability to integrate into different social classes has an influence on their ability to participate in desired activities.

The roles a person occupies shapes satisfaction with social relations (Levasseur et al., 2004) and the expectation of personal position within society factors into how social engagements are decided upon. For example, kaumatua are Māori elders who are held in high esteem within their iwi (tribe), hapu (sub-tribe) and whanau (family) and serve important roles on their marae (courtyards) (Keelan et al., 2021). Levasseur et al. (2004) found that a person's role within their social world was of more importance to quality of life over number of daily activities, showing that a person's evaluation of their status is more important than how they occupy their time. Individuals' roles help to shape their social identity and as such shape how they are perceived and perceive themselves within social spheres. Social roles include family (Hossain et al., 2018), religious affiliation (Greenfield & Marks, 2007), civil engagement (Martinson & Minkler, 2006) and leisure activities (Goll et al., 2015), with some gendered differences (Clarke & Bennetts, 2013).

The loss of role and reverence in society can have consequences on health and wellbeing. Older adults have often been defined by ageist stereotypes, being perceived as ill, senile, lonely, and frail (Makita et al., 2021: Levy, 1996). Ageism is defined by Butler (1968) as '... a process of systematic stereotyping of and discrimination against people because they are old...' (p.243). In the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, conceptualisations of older adults' place in society was an expectation for older adults to withdraw and isolate from society as they await approaching death (Cumming & Henry, 1961). While this perspective has fallen largely out of favour; stigma, and stereotypes of older adults as senile and invalid do continue and if internalised can lead to unfavourable health expectations and outcomes (Sargent-Cox & Anstey, 2014), and exclusion, or othering, of peers who personify these age-related stereotypes (Hubbard et al., 2003).

Noting how physical, cultural, economic, and relational environment impact on the extent to which one can participate in their preferred social roles, leads into the examination of what the activities that older adults tend to participate in and how these are conceptualised as meaningful and preferred by the individual.

# Activities, Participation, and Engagement

Two types of social participation are formal and informal. Formal forms of social participation relate to civil forms of engagement in which one is servicing community members or government organisations and often involve higher levels of engagement, while informal forms refer to individual social pursuits of leisure or personal pleasure (van Groenou & Deeg, 2010) and are more casual in nature. Remaining active in older age is said to convey social and psychological benefits to conception of self through social approval and ongoing engagement (Reitzes et al., 1995; Longino & Kart, 1982). Levasseur et al. (2010) organise social participation into various levels depending upon the goals of the individual and the extent to which one is engaged, with less formal social participation more proximal to the

individual concerning personal relationship, while formal forms are more distal to the person having more impact upon the community or wider society. Some classifications specify that social participation is set within the boundaries of interaction with or alongside others (Goll et al., 2015). Other classifications include preparatory activities, such as keeping up with current affairs and readying oneself for social interaction with others (Levasseur et al., 2010). For the current purpose, the former definition is used.

Formal forms of participation include volunteering for charities, organisations, or community groups. To volunteer predominantly involves the free giving of time or skill to help others (Wilson, 2000). In exploring the motivators for volunteering in older Australians, Same et al. (2020) report themes relating to belonging, living within value systems, personal development, as well as time flexibility as topical reasons for volunteering. Similar themes were described among volunteering elders with dementia (Han et al., 2019). Volunteering has been linked to lower incidence mortality and depression, (Filges et al., 2020; Van Willigen, 2000). These benefits appear linked to the sense of purpose that is obtained from volunteering along with investment in the cause, the frequency in which one participates, as well as the social interactions obtained in volunteerism (Warburton et al., 2001; & Jirovec & Hyduk, 1999; Musick et al., 1999). While lower educated and economically resourced individuals are less likely to volunteer then those better resourced (Jirovec & Hyduk, 1999), skills development and accessibility to volunteer opportunities reduces the effects of social capital on participation (Tang & Morrow-Howell, 2008).

Informal forms of social participation relate to leisure activities. Given the increased free time available following retirement, opportunities for leisure pursuits are increased. Forms of informal social participation include sports, travel, outings with family and friends, and utilising community run events (Vaughan et al., 2016). Research has indicated that choices of social activities post-retirement are often the same as those older adults enjoyed in

their youths, suggesting that participation is largely based around meaningful activities gained throughout the lifespan and the ability of older adults to continue engaging in these activities (Minhat et al., 2013; Atchley, 1971). The degree to which having family members and friends living close and continued engagement in community participation is variable, with research showing insignificant associations between proximity to family and friends and participation rates (Vaughan et al., 2016), while others posit that family and friends are valuable resources that enable continued engagement with the wider community, chiefly through assistance with transport (Dabelko-Schoeny et al., 2021).

As remaining active in older age and continuing to engage in social activities forms the basis to successful and positive ageing (Rowe & Kahn, 1987; Simpson & Cheney, 2007), the benefits derived from engaging in and maintaining informal means of social participation are multiple. Remaining active in older age is linked to many areas of wellbeing, including better resilience to stressors (Pressman et al., 2009), better adaptation to changes related to grief (Utz et al., 2002; Gallagher et al., 1982), functional ability (Tomioka et al., 2017; Lövden et al., 2005), and access to social and physical resources through increased social capital (Nielson et al., 2019). However, participation in leisure activities is variable across the lifespan and among the sexes (Janke et al., 2006), with health factors relating to physical capacity having a greater impact on the ability to engage in leisure then the impact of age in itself. Given the increasing impact of physical limitations among older adults, ongoing participation requires a continuous process of adaptation in order to remain engaged and maintain quality of life (Grist, 2012; Baltes & Carstensen, 2003). The motivation to remain engaged in leisure activities has revealed multiple reasons for participation, with skills acquisition, pleasure, social connections and as a means for escape common reasons for participation (Lazar & Nguyen, 2017).

Regardless of the means and motivations for social participation, being socially active and participating with others has been shown to benefit the well-being of older adults (Warburton et al., 2001). Given social participations benefits in improving quality of life, instances of functional decline and loss of independence can impact upon social participation and access activities (Caman et al., 2014; Kerr, 2016). The consequences of low participation and the potential for exclusion from activities may contribute to loneliness and social isolation.

#### **Loneliness and Social Isolation**

Loneliness is the perception of a lack of satisfying social relationships or a discrepancy in actual and desired social relationships (Peplau, & Perlman, 1985). Loneliness is a considered to be a public health issue (Gerst-Emerson & Jayawardhana, 2015; Holt-Lunstad, 2017; Leigh-Hunt et al., 2017). Strong correlational links exist between loneliness and physical disability, mortality, and poor mental health including depression (Kerr, 2016; Pinquant, & Sorensen, 2001; Statistics New Zealand, 2013). However, Matthews (2015) cautions against overemphasising the prevalence and impact of loneliness among older adults, highlighting self-reported loneliness for older adult is lower compared to younger adults. Although less prevalent, loneliness remains a concern among elder health care researchers and a target of change for policy makers (Martin, 2019). For those experiencing loneliness, life quality is impacted upon with lonely individuals experiencing earlier mortality (Henriksen et al., 2017).

Paradoxically, while loneliness in western countries is often attributed with the individualistic ideals of society (Lykes & Kemmelmeier, 2014), members of collectivistic cultures, associated with more co-residence and culture-boundness, report higher levels of loneliness (Sundström et al., 2009; Dykstra, 2009). In New Zealand, Pasifika and Asian older adults report higher subjective loneliness then Māori and European New Zealanders, even when

receiving support or residing with others (Jamieson et al., 2018). These findings suggest that the context and quality of interactions are of more importance than quantity of contact in influencing an individual's evaluation of their connection with others. Carstensen (1995) purports that loneliness is lower among older adults due to their selectiveness in investing time and energy in emotionally satisfying relationships. As such, the converse could suggest unsatisfying relationships and social interactions increase feelings of loneliness and social isolation.

Social isolation is the withdrawal, either voluntarily or otherwise, of the individual from society or the lack of meaningful and fulfilling social contacts and relationships (Nicholson, 2012). Although isolating oneself is not always negative or unhealthy, such as instances of isolation for respite and rest from busy lifestyles (Biordi & Nicholson, 2013) and taking time away from others is often a health form of self-care. Factors that make older adults more vulnerable to social isolation are hearing loss, chronic illness, functional problems, cognitive decline, rural living, living alone or having family live away, and increasing age (Mick, Kawachi & Lin, 2014; Iliffe et al., 2007; Havens et al., 2004). Social exclusion can result in social isolation among older adults also, with rejection from participation and barriers-imposed by cliques inhibiting the ability for individuals to form social connections in new spaces, such as retirement villages (Nielson et al., 2019).

The death of a spouse is a major life event. Older adults who lose their spouse report feelings of isolation and loneliness initially, but this often does not turn into prolonged grief, particularly for those who were chief carers of their spouse (Burton et al., 2006). The protective influence of friends and family support may offer protection from social isolation for the grieved (d'Epinay et al., 2010), however, reports of loneliness among widows are often higher to never married counterparts, suggesting that the close attachment with a spouse is hard to replace in older age (Boyd et al., 2021). For those who are socially isolated from

support networks, negative health effects can occur. Nicholson (2012) showed that isolated individuals often had poorer adherence to medical treatment and engaged in less health promoting behaviours, with the risk of nutritional deficits and lower recovery rates being present for these individuals.

Those who perceive themselves as socially isolated have an increased risk of earlier mortality and morbidity among older adults (Cacioppo & Cacioppo, 2014). While the use of substances is an issue among older adults, Kuerbis et al. (2014) found older adults often drank more when in the company of others, while those who were more isolated used prescription medicines more than their non-isolated counterparts. Additionally, being socially isolated has been associated with greater decline in cognitive functioning (Lara et al., 2019).

A more novel cause of social isolation is the SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) viral pandemic, which has led to public policies requiring isolation, particularly of older adults, through the limiting of interacts among individuals and the closing of services that deemed unessential (Jefferies et al., 2020). Initial research reveals older adults' loneliness and social isolation has increased during the pandemic (Wu, 2020). Explanations for these increases include, government ordinates limiting interactions among people, lockdowns of retirement villages, and self-isolation to protect oneself from the virus (Wu, 2020). However, these results are preliminary in the context of an ongoing pandemic and the long-term impact on older adults will be better understood in the future.

Given that loneliness and social isolation are related to subjective and objective experiences of a lack of meaningful or desired social contact and access, the extent to which the environment enables or limits access to opportunities to participate is an important consideration (Levasseur et al., 2015). With recognition that older adults increasingly prefer to remain living in their homes, understanding the impact of home and location and how these contribute to social participation and wellbeing is necessary in enabling successful

implementation of the ageing in place plans of governments and developing resources to encourage social participation.

# The Location of Housing on Social Participation

Housing composition for those aged 65 years and older in New Zealand indicate that around 80% of people lived in private dwellings, of which 28.8% lived alone, with the reminder of the population chiefly comprising older adults housed in residential care (Statistics New Zealand, 2013). Residents in private dwellings decreases with age, with 31% of 75 years and older and only 9.7% of those 85 years and up remaining in their private dwelling (Statistics New Zealand, 2013).

The cost and effort of home maintenance becomes increasingly challenging for many older adults, with physical decline often meaning that outside assistance with upkeep is required, or necessitates the shifting into a smaller residence (Davey, 2006). Older individuals who rent face the double burden of community dwelling, with many homes in New Zealand not being suitable to the needs of older adults or not meeting healthy standards (Gillespie-Bennett et al., 2013). Renting is also a precariousness form of housing, often with regular rent increases and risk of termination of tenancy. Renters also tend to be economically more deprived and are predominantly represented by females and minority group members, as such these groups are vulnerable to precarious and inadequate standard housing (Davey et al., 1999). Health status is linked to housing quality in New Zealand, with older renters living in poor housing conditions reporting poorer mental and physical health than home owner-occupiers (Pledger et al., 2019).

Along with appropriate housing in maintaining quality of life, neighbouring environment also has an impact on older adults' social participation. Length of residence in a neighbourhood, as well as the extent to which residents are familiar with and interacted with their neighbours has been shown to influence wellbeing reports and social cohesion among

those aged 60 years and older adults (Elliot et al., 2014). Having good relationships with neighbours has the benefit of improving perceptions of safety and increases social participation (Elliot et al., 2014). Knowing neighbours appears to create a sense of stability and familiarity which increases older adults' sense of safety in their location, enabling them to feel secure in venturing out. Connections made throughout tenure and the increases in sense of personal safety allows older adults some security in participating in their community. Hand et al. (2012) noted the importance of social cohesion and safety as factors that determine levels of social participation, with relocation to safer environments in close proximity to social supports promoting participation. Additionally, part of the importance of belonging and social cohesion within a neighbourhood is the ability for identity and attachment to their home and community that develop over the length of residence. Wiles et al. (2009) noted that attachment to place for older adults was complex, with symbolic, physical, and social aspects of their environments influencing the sense of home. While security and tenure appear to have an influence on feeling enabled to participate, practical aspects of participation in relation to age and age friendly environments impact on the degree to which older adults socially participate within their neighbourhoods (Richard, 2009).

The accessibility of local amenities and trust in neighbours is related to quality of life. Stephens et al. (2020) examined the impacts on personal capacity and neighbourhood accessibility on physical health quality of life measures, revealing that poor neighbourhood facilities enabling access impacted on physical health. Environmental features that facilitate neighbourhood participation include having adequate seating and well-designed outside spaces and disabled friendly sidewalks and crossings (Chaudhury et al., 2016). Contributing to the wellbeing of older adults is neighbourhood aesthetics, with subjective perception of neighbourhoods influencing wellbeing (Stephens et al., 2019). While subjective evaluation of the home is important to quality of life (Stephens & Allen, 2022), objective evaluations of the

local environment have the benefit of removing implicit bias that comes with familiarity of a neighbourhood, Wen et al. (2006) found that there was a greater relationship between objective neighbourhood status and self-rated health over subjective evaluations.

Regarding safety, Strobl et al. (2016) noted some older adults felt unsafe using public transport, particularly at night, reducing venturing out of the home in the later hours. Safety includes both the physical design of the environment and the infrastructure that supports safe use, it also relates to the personal sense of security regarding a location. Research has shown that higher ratings of neighbourhood safety results in greater social participation through easier accessibility to participation opportunities such as volunteering (Grinshteyn & Sugar, 2021). Conversely, greater levels of social deprivation in a neighbourhood and higher rates of crime results in higher safety fears and increased social isolation among older adults (Scharf et al., 2005). When Kearns et al. (2015) examined the relationship between location and loneliness, they found deprived areas had greater rates of loneliness and social isolation. Deprivation in a neighbourhoods can influence the accessibility to resources and fears for personal safety, reducing opportunities for social participation.

Additionally, the sharing of the home with others also impacts upon the experience of loneliness and isolation for older adults, Sundström et al. (2009) noted that living alone was associated with greater rates of loneliness, with poor health exasperating these feelings.

Although Perissinotto and Covinsky (2014) remind us that, while living alone is not synonymous with low levels of social support or interactions, there remains increased risk of loneliness for those living alone. Research demonstrates that shared accommodation; with spouses, family, or in a residential setting can alleviate loneliness (de Jong et al., 2012), albeit to varying degrees. As Matthews (2015) puts succinctly, '...The homes older adults inhabit can be socially enhancing by encouraging the formation and maintenance of social networks and interactions with others, or socially detrimental by fostering isolation and loneliness...'

(p.9). The impact of housing and accommodation appears to influence experience of loneliness and isolation particularly for those in unsuitable living environments and who are socially disconnected from those around them, with health and age influencing capacity to participate.

Housing and attachment to space have been shown to hold special importance to older adults, however older adults often have to relocate to new homes. Reasons for relocation include unsuitable housing conditions, driving status, functional decline, moving closer to friends and family and advanced age (Weeks et al., 2012). When Bekhet et al. (2009) examined the reasons leading to relocation and the factors encouraging relocation to retirement communities, they uncovered failing health, loneliness, and lack of support in the community as reasons leading to relocation; while closeness to resources, familiarity of residents and residence location as encouragers towards shifting. Given houses hold a special attachment to older adults, for those relocating in later life the process of moving can be trialling and can often impact on older adults' wellbeing (Walker et al., 2007). The degree to which the decision to relocate is made by the individual or the result of external pressures impacts upon the individual's well-being and the ability to settle into their new location. Bekhet et.al (2009) spoke of the importance of relocation controllability as the degree to which personal control is used relating to the move. They noted that control and autonomy in relation to relocation is beneficial to psychological adjustment, while having little or no controllability is related to higher incident of depression, feeling hurt, abandoned, anger, or punished. Agency in relocation is an important factor in quality of life and social participation, with the degree of agency in choosing to relocate impacting upon experiences of the new residence. Stephens and Allen (2022) found that agency was related to greater satisfaction following neighbourhood relocation, irrespective of mental and physical changes in the individuals studied. For those who are involuntarily relocated, due to family pressures

or health decline can cause grief and symptoms of depression (Dimond, McCance & King, 1987).

Taken together, older adults' ability to participate socially within their communities is impacted upon by various factors, including safety, familiarity, and infrastructure. Changes in functional ability and neighbourhoods' populations over time can impact older adults' capacity to socially participate. Relocation may also factor into opportunities for participation as well as contribute to wellbeing and satisfaction within neighbourhoods. Autonomy, or sense of control and involvement in the relocation process can contribute to psychological wellbeing, while coercion or forced shifts can cause distress and resentment.

From what has been shown, the factors contributing to older adults' ability to continue to engage with others and participate in activities relate to the physical, emotional, psychological, economic, and environmental resources available to older adults. While these are valuable in determining facilitators and barriers to social participation, they lack the theoretical rationale for why older adults participate in the ways they do and how these are explicated as processes of human behaviour. It is therefore necessary to examine theories of ageing in relation to social participation, related to theories of ageing, and how lifespan changes contribute to social participation realties for older adults.

# **Theories of Ageing**

Theories of ageing relate to psychosocial and developmental processes that make attempts in understanding and explaining late life developments in behaviours, cognitive functions, sociality, and relationships (Wadensten, 2006). This section will outline some of the most prominent and influential theories relating to social behaviour among older adults.

Two early theories of ageing, activity theory and disengagement theory are highly influential in psychosocial constructions of ageing. Activity theory was initially proposed in 1948 by Havinghurst in which it was proposed that to achieve satisfaction in older life,

maintaining valued, social interactions and high activity levels is necessary for wellbeing in later life (Havinghurst, 1957; Wadensten, 2006). This contrasts with disengagement theory, which proposes that along with physical decline and approaching death, older adults withdraw from social interaction and activities to become more isolated and introspective (Cummings & Henry, 1961). This process of withdrawal is considered a natural and desirable process of ageing both for the individual and society (Hochschild, 1975; Wadensten, 2006). Disengagement theory has been criticised as promoting views of ageing as times of decline and isolation and therefore reinforcing negative ageing stereotypes and promoting normalised ostracization of older adults from society (Rose, 1964; Wadensten, 2006). This theory has largely fallen into disuse in gerontology research. Activity theory however has flourished and come to represent the political goals of international and local governing bodies in the promotion of positive and active ageing (World Health Organisation, 2002; Martin, 2019). Active ageing has been faced criticism on its age denialism (Wadensten, 2006), and its emphases on maintaining social roles and relationships for satisfaction in later life, often neglecting the need to adapt and change activities when age-related health issues make continuing these activities difficult (Ungvarsky, 2021).

The above represents theories of ageing around the forms of social engagement considered important to the promotion of satisfaction in later life. However, they don't offer much in explaining the decision-making processes and patterns of social behaviours in older adults (Burnett-Wolle & Godbey, 2007). Later theories have focused more on making predictions of social and leisure behaviour in older adults, two of these theories beung selection, optimisation, and compensation theory and socioemotional selectivity theory. Although not age-specific theories, they are useful in that they propose the measures undertaken by determining how social participation is conceived of and measured by older adults (Baltes & Carstensen, 2003). These theories are life-span developmental theories that

recognises changes are multi-directional and abilities fluctuate over time requiring adaptation to participate socially in activities.

Selection, optimisation, and compensation is a theory in which participation is based on time, abilities, and resource available over the life-course and the ways in which individuals adapt to the changes in the functioning and resources (Freund, & Baltes, 2002). Because a person is not able to pursue all desired activities due to limitations in resources, i.e., time, energy, they are required to select which activities they are able to pursue within their social, physical, and economic capabilities. The individual is then required to adapt to changes they encounter to either maintain these activities or shift focus to another activity (Freund, & Baltes, 2002). Selection, optimisation, and compensation is an important conceptualisation of social participation as it acknowledges the real-world limitations that restrict participation in the vast array of available activities, as well as recognising how adaption and deliberate allocation of resources is required to the pursuit of chosen activities and interactions with others. This theory has an explicit acknowledgment of the intentional action undertaken by individuals in relation their social networks and leisure pursuits, with careful consideration on the person's ability to achieve their social goals (Burnett-Wolle & Godbey, 2007).

# Socioemotional Selectivity Theory

Socioemotional selectivity theory takes a different perspective on social behaviour suggesting that the selection of social partners and activities narrows when perceptions of life's time horizon as nearing an end. This perception of limited time motivates individuals to base their social spheres around the emotional satisfaction that is gained from activities and individuals (Carstensen, 1992). This theory arose with the recognition that older adults, while having smaller social networks, often report higher levels of emotional wellbeing and satisfaction with their social partners then younger cohorts (Huxhold et al., 2013; Carstensen,

1995). Socioemotional emotional selectivity posits that social networks and engagement in activities reduces as a person ages, with relationship 'pruning' of less meaningful others, or careful selection of new relations with others based the degree to which emotionally meaningful benefits are gained through these interactions (Carstensen et al., 2003). The motivation behind this is the goal to achieve personal fulfilment through emotional satisfaction and gratification (Lansford et al., 1998).

The chief mechanism that motivates this refinement of social networks is related to the awareness of the limited time left in life. The differences in perceptions of the time horizon among individuals may be based on changes in physical health and or functionality or increasing awareness of the nearing the end of the human lifespan (Löckenhoff, & Carstensen, 2004). The refinement of social circles and those only that provide positive emotional experiences has been suggested in participation in activities (Hendricks & Cutler, 2004), the narrowing of social circles is suggested to a deliberate action on the part of the individual (Burnett-Wolle & Godbey, 2007). Indication for socioemotional selectiveness among older adults has shown relation between the context and status of the relationships over personal factors, such as personality (Lang et al., 1998). Evidence from Park et al. (2012) showed that among older adults living in assisted living facilities, perspectives on time meant that forming newer relationships with coresidents was of less importance over those valued more important, such as long-established friends and family.

Regarding preferential contact, increasing age is accompanied by a greater amount of contact with family members and close friends, while contact with acquaintances decreases (Carstensen, 1992). In assessing friendship styles and talk using a socio emotional selective framework Wright and Patterson (2006) found that older adults were more discerning of their social circles then younger cohorts. While more selective of their social partners, the quality of the interactions and depth of talk in relation to emotional support and length of friendships

is greater for older adults, with greater emphasis on already established relationships (Wright & Patterson, 2006).

The emphasis of personal satisfaction with participation over feelings of obligation or boredom motivating participation has been shown to be of greater benefit to wellbeing (Aroogh & Shahboulaghi, 2020; Levasseur et al., 2010). These results appear to give credibility to the tenets of socioemotional selectivity theory in the importance of the attributions made in relation to participation. Having positive emotional experiences with social participation would suggest that older adults would experience some benefit in relation to mental wellbeing, given that positive interactions are tied to wellbeing (Ferreira-Alves et al., 2014). It is reasonable to suggest that deliberate interaction with valued activities and others would relate to less negative affect and greater mental health, and by degrees this appears to be the case for older adults. As a population, older adults generally have lower incidence of mental illness in comparison to younger cohorts (Westerhof & Keyes, 2010; Löckenhoff & Carstensen, 2004). While these results are impressive, Huxhold et al. (2013) warns against the simple assumption that reduced social networks is an adaptive response that facilitates emotional wellbeing as purported within socioemotional selectivity theory. They suggest that emotional wellbeing requires a balancing of social networks according both activity and emotional support which both helps to support successful ageing, functional health, and general wellbeing (Huxhold et al., 2013).

How social isolation and loneliness might be understood within socioemotional selectivity theory would suggest that a lack of closeness and positive interactions with important others in social gatherings might lead to reduced participation, withdrawal, and subsequently loneliness. While it may appear obvious that people would prefer to spend time with and participate in activities that bring greater joy, the premise of socioemotional selectivity theory holds that participation in less meaningful activities reduces. As such it

could be expected that those who do not have access to their desired networks and activities would suffer greater emotional pain and report higher levels of loneliness and isolation.

Support for this premise appears in research that investigated loneliness and depression in older adults living independently in a retirement community, a shared complex that provides proximity to others and in many instances a range of activities to participate in. Researchers found that smaller social networks resulted in increased loneliness but not depression, although depression was more closely linked to lower social participation (Adams et al., 2004). Adams et al. (2004) suggest that the degree to which older adults can control the size and access to their preferred social network is limited for various reasons, including health, location, and schedules of network members, emphasising that without meaningful social relationships risk of loneliness is increased. The importance of social networks and the positive meanings attributed to the relationship is a factor in reduced risk for loneliness and social Isolation (Ferreira-Alves et al., 2014).

As shown, there is great variability in the explanations and motivations behind social engagement for older adults, with much focus on personal ability and access to resources. What socioemotional selectivity theory provides researchers with is an emphasis on the emotional attribution towards social networks and participation, as well the extent to which positive associations are made in relation to social networks and activities within their ability to access.

Given the importance of location and access in neighbourhoods and communities in influencing positive emotions and fulfilment of social participation, further examination of the impact of location on wellbeing is useful with increased relocation among older adults.

One form of housing that that provides options to participate and proximity to similar others is retirement villages and this makes them an ideal situation in which to examine socioemotional selectivity theory.

### **Retirement Villages**

Residential options for older adults who needed additional help began as institutions offering board and care options for older adults with chronic health needs whose families were unable to meet their needs at home (Dodd, 2018). Once the area of non-profit providers, residential housing for older adults emphasised the medical model-based treatment of older adults, often to the exclusion of consideration towards life satisfaction and psychosocial needs (Dodd, 2018). This led to the development of aged communities, promoting more independence and age restricted neighbourhoods began to develop in North America during the 1950s (McHugh & Fletchall, 2009) leading to the current form of retirement villages in Western nations and globally with emphasis on positive and active ageing (Simpson & Cheney, 2007). With the rise of new perspectives relating to aged capacity and retaining independence, the modern retirement village promotes these qualities and aims to provide a dynamic environment for retired individuals of various capabilities to age in place (Grant, 2006).

Retirement Villages are often corporate owned entities, purpose-built premises for the accommodation of retired persons and their spouses or partners, with housing options for an array individual needs (Law Commission, 1999). Older adults who buy into retirement village housing generally have the option of housing and support depending on level of support needed, from fully independent villas and serviced apartments, to rest home, dementia, palliative, and respite level care (Yeung et al., 2017). This offers the potential for residents to move through the different residential options as needs dictate (Dodds, 2018), providing a pseudo form of ageing in place where a person can remain in the same complex for the remainder of their life (Boyd et al., 2021). The marketing materials for retirement villages present mobile, lively older adults enjoying a social and leisurely lifestyle within a modern and secure facility (Grant, 2006; Simpson & Cheney, 2007). Yet, where some view

retirement villages as resort like accommodation to spend ones remaining years in comfort and pursuing active, positive ageing (Simpson & Cheney, 2007), others provide harsher critiques. Criticisms of retirement villages are based around the idea that older adults are being segregated from the wider community, referring to these premises as aged ghettos (Bernard et al., 2012; Goldhaber & Donaldson, 2012).

Research has sought to understand how older adults make the decision to move into a retirement village. Push and pull frameworks look at what factors 'push' older adults into retirement villages, as well as those factors that draw, or 'pull' individuals to shifting into retirement villages (Dodds, 2018), although there can be overlap between the two factors. Thematic analysis from volunteer relocators to retirement villages revealed the health of oneself or spouse, releasing responsibility burdens, loneliness, and lack of support as 'pushing' factors towards relocation; while 'pulling' factors included the village of location, knowledge of the facility, having friends already living in retirement village and enhanced security of housing into later life (Bekhet et al., 2009; Gardner, 1994; Graham & Tuffin, 2004). Other researchers have also found that the possibility of continuing care provision, and lifestyle maintenance were factors influencing relocation (Groger & Kinney, 2006). The decision to relocate appears to be based on various physical, social, and psychological considerations, with older adults assessing how retirement villages might offer an optimal lifestyle in relation to their needs and wants.

Given the different residential options for the various support and accommodation needs of older adults, retirement villages also offer a broad range of activities and services to entertain and encourage active living (Grant, 2006). Often providing group outings, movie nights, performances, crafts, sports, games and social clubs, retirement villages aim to give residents a wide range of social activities and chances to participate (Potts, 1997). The

provision of activities and village organised events can be seen as methods to enhance social participation and increase a sense of community for residents (Nielson et al., 2019).

Of the cultural groups that choose to live in retirement villages, it mostly individuals of New Zealand European/ European descent who this living option appeals to (Broad et al., 2020; Nielson et al., 2019). Given the relative generational homogeneity of those living in retirement villages, there are grounds to suggest that there are similar preferences in leisure activities among residents (Graham, 2002). Most retirement village residents are women (Broad et al., 2020) reflecting the differences in lifespans. As many retirement villages are based around a middle-class western model of housing and lifestyle (Dodds, 2018), the ability of retirement villages to fulfil the cultural needs of other ethnic populations is up for debate. Dodds (2018) notes 'Retirement villages are located within New Zealand Pākehā cultural ideals and therefore may be perceived and experienced differently by Māori who have maintained their connection to Māori culture' (p.133). Unsurprisingly, much of the cultural practices in retirement villages are Eurocentric, and promote western values of agedenial, independence, and autonomy (Dodds, 2018; Graham, 2002). As a result, it can be expected that many residents are able to find community and companionship amongst those of similar social and cultural backgrounds (Graham & Tuffin, 2004).

Retirement villages promote themselves as a lifestyle option for quality of life, companionship, and independence (Grant, 2006; Gardner, 1994), examination of how this translates to residents lived experiences is necessary. The differences in fitness and frailty of older adults within retirement villages has the potential to lead to exclusion of some from activities and subsequent loneliness despite the retirement village emphasis on community (Bernard et al., 2012). This leads to a need to examine how different residents experience their social worlds based on their housing location within retirement villages. Given that modern retirement villages provide accommodation options catered to needs of older adults,

be they fully independent to palliative and dementia care, the range of care needs is vast (Grant, 2006). As reported by Nielson et al. (2019) some residents noted that for village friends who had to relocate to assisted living area of the retirement village, contact with independent friends was reduced, particularly if both friends were experiencing physical decline, and many felt less included in participation opportunities, such as boules. As the range of morbidities is vast, one might expect that needing increasing support, but not enough to require full time assistance such as residential care provides, could lead to some dynamic changes in social experiences. Others have indicated that the degree to which the community of the village, SES, and commonalities in shared experiences among retirement village residents influences the degree to which residents are able to integrate into social circles and form friendships (Sefcik & Abbott, 2014: Bernard et al., 2012).

### Serviced Apartments

A housing option that is relatively new in the scope of older adult accommodation is the serviced apartment (SA), often referred to in the international literature as assisted living (AL). For the current purposes, the abbreviation SA/AL will be used to describe this accommodation option throughout the remainder of this introduction. Karen Brown Wilson is a major pioneer of SA/AL living, having witnessed her mother's unhappiness with the hospital style, high dependency model of residential care following a stroke, Wilson sought to devise a better, more enabling alternative (Wilson, 2007). This model, which served as the basis for modern SA/AL's aimed to maintain independence for the individual, promote autonomy over daily life and enhance privacy, all which are largely lost in rest home environments due to demands on staff, space limitations and scheduling of meals and cares (Hardie, 2014). SA/AL's allow residents to have control of their daily lives, with care staff on hand if needed to help with medication, housekeeping or meal provision available at an extra charge (Dodds, 2018; Grant, 2006). The number of SA/AL's in New Zealand is difficult to

approximate, however, Saville-Smith and Fraser (2014) reported that around 45% of retirements villages surveyed reported offering serviced apartments. It could be assumed that with increasing growth in retirement village development and the ageing population, demand and supply for SA/AL's will increase for those seeking some assistance with daily living whilst desiring to maintain their independence. As a long-term housing option, SA/AL's provide a bridge between older adults who are fully independent and those requiring higher levels of support, such as rest home level care (Dodds, 2018; Saville-Smith & Fraser, 2014). Generally provided in the form of studio apartments, with kitchen, bathroom and living room available to enable individuals the opportunity to reside in their own 'home', this 'homely' environment often being more appealing than the smaller spaces offered in rest home accommodation (Golant, 2004). Cutchin et al. (2003) also noted that 'home-ness' in these locations was attributable to personal judgements on the aesthetics and quality of amenities, as well as the longevity and quality of nonfamilial support individuals recieve both in the facility and surrounding community.

For older adults, deciding to relocate to a serviced apartments encompasses a variety of reasons, including a medical event, seeking assistance for a spouse, and voluntary relocation based on increased impairment from physical, functional, cognitive, and social decline (Chen et al., 2008). SA/AL are spaces that comprise of communal dining and recreational rooms for resident to interact and participate in the activities provided. Although SA/AL's provide support for residents in activities of daily living, many residents still utilise their established social networks when needing support. Family members often aided with practical affairs, such as travel for appointments, although the extent of this support varied among residents, with some studies indicating that friends were chief support providers (Bennet et al., 2017; Dabelko-Schoeny et al., 2021).

The design of these spaces mean that residents live in close proximity to one another, enabling opportunities for interactions among residents. In their study on the social relationships and wellbeing for AL residents, Street et al. (2007) found that higher measures of wellbeing were reported for those with close friendship within the SA/AL, the effects of these relationships on wellbeing were found to be greater to those among family and friends out of the facility. However, Perkins et al. (2013) suggest that family ties were more aligned to wellbeing, with coresidential relationships, while important, were superficial in form. The relational importance of others in SA/AL facilities are often renegotiated throughout tenure in the facility, and while close friendships were formed in SA/AL's, the degree to which these meet the relational importance of long-term friends and close family appears is difficult to explicate, with some research indicating that friendships are forged through circumstance and convenience (Kemp et al., 2012; Park et al., 2012). In their study on the sociality of SA/AL residents, Kemp et al., (2012) sought to understand how social relations were constructed, finding that many interactions were 'neighbourly' in construction and while although some close friendships were formed, resident tensions also existed. It can be seen that relationships within SA/AL's are variable, with some able to deeper connections to others, however the majority of residents appear to conceive of others as coresidents who just reside there also. Sefcik and Abbott (2014) qualitatively examined the facilitators and barriers to the formation of friendships in SA/AL's. Their results showed the importance of early connections, either knowing people prior to the shift or having early interactions with other residents soon after shifting. Other facilitators included shared experiences in relation to physical impairment, the community of the shared living environments, and a positive attitude in relation to their need to shift and personal evaluations of the new environment (Sefcik & Abbott, 2014). Barriers to friendships included transient relationships that are not maintained due to the effects ageing

of friends in the facility resulting in relocation, and death (Sefcik & Abbott, 2014; Perkins et al., 2013; Park et al., 2012).

Understanding the health profiles of SA/AL's residents is challenging as the needs of residents are varied, hence the arrangement of assistance determined by needs (Wilson, 2007). Given that SA/AL's residents often have lower need for support compared to rest home residents, rates of decline or a medical event could mean transfer to higher level care occurs quickly for these individuals (Golant, 2004). Sloane et al. (2005) examined outcomes for dementia sufferers in SA/AL versus residential care residents, and whilst they noted no significant difference in health and functionality, they caveated these results noting that only half of those with mild dementia and a third with moderate dementia in SA/AL's area remained in these facilities, the rest having passed away or transfer to higher level care.

Important in the ethos of modern retirement villages in New Zealand is the promotion of remaining active and engaged with others (Grant, 2006), with villages providing different facilities and activities for resident to participate in with each other and visitors. Examining what activities and the promise of inclusion means for residents is critical in understanding how access is utilised by residents, and how their expectations of retirement village lifestyles are met given the promises made in village marketing.

### Social Participation in Retirement Villages

The literature on social participation within retirement villages and how it influences wellbeing produced some contradictory findings. The shift to retirement villages appears to result in increased social interactions via the closer proximity to others in an environment more suited for social participation (Graham, 2002; Potts, 1997). How this transfers to increased social participation and expansion of social networks is, however, rather complicated. Higher reports on quality of life in SA/AL facilities in the United States have highlighted the importance of friendliness among fellow residents and the staff in improving

quality of life among residents (Park, 2009). Additionally, Potts (1997) found that there were lower rates of depression for those retirement village residents who maintained relationships with those outside over those who reported receiving most of their social support and friendships within the village, including older friends living in retirement villages. The quality of older friendships over newly formed ones, was higher in terms of feelings of closeness and affections (Shea et al., 1998). These findings appear to support the idea that relationship quality over frequency of contact is of greater benefit to wellbeing to older adults (Potts, 1997; Carstensen, 1992), as well as the continuation of previously valued activities and relationships (Atchley, 1971).

With the emphasis on leading a life of leisure, socialisation, and community, it is reasonable to suggest that retirement villages market themselves as spaces in which older adults might experience less loneliness and social isolation, and experience an active, participatory lifestyle (Graham & Tuffin, 2004), thus offering an improved quality of life. The increased availability of others in proximity to oneself and the provision of facilities and activities increases opportunities for social participation for older adults. Evidence suggests that loneliness is less prevalent in retirement villages (Broad et al., 2020; Yeung et al., 2017). For those older adults who relocated from socially isolated community living, transition appears to reduce social isolation for retirement village residents over care home residents (Yeung et al., 2017). Higher levels of social participation are reported post relocation (Broad et al., 2020), with a greater array of opportunities provided to engage with others in various activities suggesting retirement villages offer support and inclusive environments for new residents (Grant, 2007, Yeung et al., 2017). However, not everyone experiences the transition or participation positively. According to Nielson et al. (2019), who conducted a qualitative study of social exclusion in retirement villages, lower health status on arrival to retirement villages factored into higher reports of social exclusion, as did barriers relating to social class

appearing to limit access to certain activities or making friends. Boyd et al. (2021) also observed around a third of residents in their study reported feeling lonely having relocated seeking social connections, with the highest levels of loneliness experienced among widowed residents over divorced or never wed individuals.

Research into the levels of physicality of the activities involved in the activities offered to older adults revealed that many are sedentary or observational, such as card games and watching performances. Kotlarczyk et al. (2020) examined different contributions to sedentary behaviour in independent and SA/AL, reporting that higher levels of sedentariness resulted from motivation, physical health, and safety concerns as reasons which residents were increasingly sedentary since shifting into SA/AL. Lower levels of physical activity have been reported in for SA/AL residents in relation to fully independent others (Park et al., 2017) although this is unsurprising given that functional decline often prompts relocation to SA/AL. While individuals with dementia often need to transfer to accommodation providing higher levels of support as their cognitive abilities decline, those living in SA/AL's still engage with and participate in a wide variety of activities, however they often need to continuously negotiate and adapt to their social worlds. Ciofi et al. (2022) examined the social participation of SA/AL residents with dementia, revealing that continued engagement with meaningful, external activities and spaces, such as parks, can contribute to quality of life. Also of note was the impact confusion and anxiety can have on these residents' enjoyment of activities, particularly those outside of the SA/AL. Support of family and staff is often needed to help these residents navigate different environments and feel comfortable in new situations (Ciofi et al., 2022).

While examining the literature on the older adult's social lives and their participation in social activities, there was limited research surrounding how individuals in serviced apartments in New Zealand socially participate both within retirement villages and wider

community. Although there is commonality among village residents regarding generation and ethnicity (Graham, 2002), this does not follow that everyone will have the same social experiences, or that the expectations of lifestyle within serviced apartments will be shared across all residents. Individual experiences across the life course give rise to preferences in certain forms of social activities (Rüber, 2020) and differences in preferences and functional ability impact on the ability to engage socially. Given the wide range of potential impairments and participation options in serviced apartments, along with the paucity of any research in a New Zealand context, understanding serviced apartments resident's experiences of social participation in retirement villages and the wider community will bring valuable insight into this unexplored area.

Therefore, the purpose of this research is to contribute to understanding the social lives of serviced apartment residents.

### **Theoretical Perspective and Methodology**

## **Ontology and Epistemology**

The current research takes an idealist ontological position, seeing reality as relative to the subjective position of the observer, and appreciating the idea that within this relative stance there can exist multiple realities, with the acknowledgement that, while a singular universal truth might exist, it is unknowable outside of the observer (Raskin, 2002; Slevitch, 2011).

This study takes an interpretivist epistemological orientation, keeping with the objective of the research in understanding the social experiences of older adults through the interpretation of the meaning making and understanding of older adults' social worlds. Within an interpretivist paradigm, the researcher and object are linked through the interactions between the two, as such the findings are co-constructed within the context of the environment in which the research takes place (Khan, 2014) and dependent upon the individual interpretations of both parties. Research undertaken using an interpretivist orientation understands reality as not existing outside of the mind and that the process and outcome of any research is impacted by and impacts upon the investigator (Slevitch, 2011).

With the ontological position of reality being subject and not independent of the observer and the epistemological orientations of interpreting the subjects' social worlds, this study will use an interpretivist phenomenological methodology due to its appropriateness relating to the research objective. With the aim of the research being to understand the social lives of older adults, within a particular form of housing that is in located within a particular social, cultural, and historical context, interpretation of experiences is suitable.

Acknowledging this populations relative, subjective social experiences will enable an indepth and thorough interpretation of the experiences and the meanings they assign to these events. The use of qualitative epistemologies and methodologies are useful in the beginning

stages of understanding a phenomenon that is otherwise minimally examined (Braun & Clarke, 2013), as is the case with this project.

#### **Methodological Approach**

# Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis

Interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) is a methodological approach to idiographic research that seeks to examine and understand the lived experiences of research participants (Tuffour, 2017). To gain this understanding, IPA takes a detailed approach to data analysis, with an emphasis on the ways that experiences converge and diverge for the individual. This is accomplished via thorough examination of the experiences recounted by a small number of participants (Tuffour, 2017).

Drawing on the philosophical school of phenomenology which propounds the idea that phenomena are understood from the account of the person experiencing them, and that different individuals can have different experiences of the same event (Day, 2004). The ways that individuals interpret their experiences is through self-reflection over time (Braun & Clarke, 2013), as such events are malleable to re-examination and reinterpretation across instances in which they are recounted and made sense of by the individual (Braun & Clarke, 2013). An important factor in the conduction of IPA research is the recognition of the double hermeneutics, which acknowledges the researcher's position in the interpretation process. As a researcher is gathering and searching for meaning within the accounts of the participants, which themselves are interpretations, results in a two-factor interpretation of the subject (Peat et al., 2019).

With its emphasis on accounts of participant experience, IPA allows sense to be made of these experiences and helps to draw out the meanings applied to these experiences (Smith & Osborne, 2003). IPA recognises the embodied and embedded-ness of the person within their social, historical, and cultural context, acknowledging the way that meaning and sense

making are influenced by the context in which an experience occurs, creating different meaning making of the phenomenon over time and location (Shinebourne, 2011). It is important to acknowledge that the meaning made is contextual and fluid in that experience can be revised, reinterpreted and open to change (Tuffour, 2017). Lending itself well to inductive research, IPA is helpful when the aim is to understand phenomena within the context they occurred (Peat et al., 2019). Tuffour (2017) reminds us that meanings, being contextual, are open to change through self-reflection and reinterpretation highlighting those accounts can shift over time and across instances.

IPA involves case study examination and interpretation of singular cases or small samples, with each case examined in detail individually prior to the extracting of participants narratives and the formation of more general claims about the phenomenon (Osborn & Smith, 2008). After closely examining and interpreting the participants accounts of events, the researcher then critically examines these accounts to uncover the meanings and assumptions the individual is making in relation to the events (Braun & Clarke, 2013). The phenomenon that is the focus of the present study is the experience of social relationships and activities with a focus on how the participants experience might be impacted upon through serviced apartment living. This research does not seek to make any claims about causal mechanisms, nor does it seek to uncover facts in any objective way (Clarke, 2009) as such the experiential and interpretive focus of IPA is well suited here.

#### Method

#### Data Collection

The data set comprised written transcripts taken from audio recordings of seven, semi-structured, one-on-one interviews with serviced apartment residents from two retirement villages in the Nelson/Tasman region of New Zealand. The Nelson/Tasman region has a large population of people aged 65 years and up, at 17.9% in 2015 (Statistics New

Zealand, 2015). All seven villages offering serviced apartments were approached, with two consenting to the researcher approaching residents. The villages in this study, R.V 1 and R.V 2 offered townhouse villas and apartment style dwellings and had common spaces for residents to interact and participate in village-run activities. Both retirement villages offered residential care and hospital level care, while one included secure facility for residents with dementias.

The study used mailbox information sheets (see Appendix A and C) to recruit participants. The different villages used different mail systems, R.V 1 had a communal mailing system, while R.V 2 had mail slots outside resident apartments.

The researcher was put in touch with the activities coordinators to help advertise and meet residents, as well as assist in identifying which residents were suitable for participation. To be eligible, it was required possessed the mental capacity to understand and consent to participation in the research. Another round of information sheets was left in common spaces two months later to recruit more participants, this resulted in two additional volunteers. Invitations provided a dedicated phone number that interested persons could call to inquire for more information and leave contact information. The invitations also included email details of the researcher and supervisor.

### **Participants**

In total, seven individuals volunteered to participate in the study, three from R.V 1 and four from R.V 2. Participants consisted of four females and three males. All participants were of European/New Zealand European ethnicity. The age range of participants was between 80 and 97 years old, with length of residence in serviced apartments ranging between 5 months and 4 and a half years, with some relocating from out of town while others lived in the independent villas and townhouses prior to shifting. All but one participant had children or stepchildren, and only one was still married with another having never wed. Table

1., presents data on participants ages, and location prior to move into serviced apartments, as well as the pseudonym used throughout the study.

Table 1. *Participant pseudonyms, ages, and residence prior to shift* 

Name	Age	Residence prior to shift
Charles	Early 90s	Villa in village
Detta	Late 80s	Villa in village
Frank	Early 80s	Outside of village
Jean	Early 90s	Villa in village
Norma	Mid 80s	Outside of village
Estelle	Early 80s	Outside of village
Lionel	Late 90s	Outside of village

Individual interviews were held in a private location agreed upon between the participant and resident. Six were held in participant's apartments and one in a meeting room booked out for the purpose. Interviewing individually enabled open discussions of experiences, by attempting to limit social pressures of presenting oneself in an ideal light in front of others. One interview was held for each participant and all interviews, except for two, took place within the week of agreeing to participate and at the time and location that best suited the participant. The two interviews that had to be delayed were due to the COVID-19 lockdown. Participants were approached after restrictions had eased to reassess their interest in being interviewed and organise a time to meet. Prior to the commencement of the interviews, participants were required to fill out a consent form (see Appendix B) and offered to have a copy of the interview transcript given to them. Only two participants requested their transcript returned.

Time was spent during the interviews asking how participants spent their time with others, who those individuals were and how the participants gave meaning to their social activities. A semi-structured allowed greater flexibility throughout our conversation to explore in greater details topics relating to participants social then might otherwise be

uncovered through structured, closed styled interviewing, with three open questions, which are as follows:

- What do you do socially?
- Has your social life changed since moving here?
- Do you want to change anything about your social life?

There were prompts included to assist participants in understanding the questions if needed (See Appendix D). Some closed questions were asked for background and some basic demographic data (See Appendix D). Included at the start of the interview was the modified Older Adults Capacity to Consent to Research (OACCR) scale (Smith et al., 2019), which is designed to establish cognitive capacity for the participants, establishing their awareness of the nature of the research and their rights as participants (See Appendix D).

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethical approval for this research project was gained from Massey University Human Ethics Committee. For approval to be granted, several important considerations were navigated regarding this study, including permission to enter the villages, obtaining informed consent of participants, reimbursement for participant time, reducing harm potential, practising cultural safety, confidentiality, and storage of data.

Access to the retirement villages as the locations of this study was one of the initial ethical concerns. Retirement villages, as privately owned establishments, have the right to limit or refuse entry into the facility. Although they can't stop residents from participating in the study, not having their cooperation would make recruiting and interviewing difficult. Managers of all retirement villages offering serviced apartments were approached with the research outline and asked for their permission, of the three who requested a copy of the information sheets, two went on to give their consent and passed researchers details onto activities coordinators to liaise with. The activities coordinators are the individuals within the

villages who help to organise and run activities for the residents, meaning they have close contact with residents and were able to guide the researcher in identifying suitable participants.

Important to using participants in research is informed consent, which is the ability to understand and consent to the research process with adequate personal capabilities to choose independently to participate in the research. Exclusion criteria for participation was significant cognitive decline, as these individuals are vulnerable and may not possess the necessary mental capacity and awareness to consent to participate. The activities coordinator was able to assist in identifying those who were eligible to participate and additional screening with Smith's et al. (2019) modified Older Adults Capacity to Consent to Research (OACCR) Scale was included prior to the interview commencing to ensure participants could accurately describe what they were volunteering for (see Appendix D). Before the interviews began, informed consent was gained from the participants. Within the information sheet handed out inviting participants to the research was all the information pertaining to their rights as participants, the nature of the research, what they can expect from the research, their privacy in relation to their identities and the storage of data relating to the research (see Appendix A and C). Participants were provided several chances to raise any questions they had prior to the interview; they were required to call an 0800 number to leave their information for the researcher to then get in touch. They were also made aware of their rights to pause the interview, remove statements, or withdraw from the interview at any stage prior to analysis. Following reviews of these rights and passing eligibility criteria, participants signed a consent form (see Appendix B).

Participant wellbeing was of a major concern throughout the research process.

Participants were made aware that they could stop the interview at any stage or withdraw from the research, and the interviewer ensured that sensitive topics that might arise were

handled delicately to avoid causing emotional distress to participants. The questions used in the interviews were chosen as they were considered neutral. No participants showed signs of becoming distressed an one requested the recorder be turned off or withdrew from the research process.

The researcher wanted to express her gratitude to the participants for the time and the sharing of their experience and gave each participant a \$25 Prezzy card at the conclusion of the interview. This offer was not included on the first round of information sheets (see Appendix A) but was included on the second set handed out (see Appendix C). Although a minor change in advertising, it is important to recognise that this inclusion might have induced participation, although some argue that offering payment cannot be coercive if it is beneficial to both parties (Wertheimer & Miller, 2008). The extent to which this offer swayed anyone's decision to participation could be considered low as the second round only produced two additional volunteers.

Confidentiality and the rights to privacy are major ethical issues when conducting research. Ensuring participants could not be identified required alteration and removal of specific details from the data. Pseudonyms were given to each participant to be used whenever their interview extracts are used, these are given in Table 1. Pseudonym identities are known only to the researcher and are not attached to other identifying information. All interviews were transcribed using the pseudonyms, with names of places and people altered or removed to limit identification of the participant or the village. Serviced apartments comprise a relatively small area within retirement villages, and therefore there is a risk that participants may identify one another. This could result in harm if someone describes experiences or personal information that causes offence to others or harm to the resident. Only regional names are included as it is known that the research is located within the Nelson/Tasman district. Due to the limited number of serviced apartment villages in the

Nelson/Tasman region, the identity of the villages themselves, their location in the region, and the name of their owner-operators were removed to reduce potential harm to the villages reputation and further protect participants. There is potential for participants to reveal themselves to each other and co-residents in the villages. While the researcher made it known that participation was confidential, the decision to keep their anonymity in relation to participation is ultimately the individual's choice.

Cultural differences of participants are important to recognise and accommodate to ensure that participants are respected and comfortable during the data collection process.

New Zealand seeks to honour its commitment to the principles outlined in Ti Tiriti O

Waitangi (The Treaty of Waitangi) by providing culturally sensitive processes to interactions with the indigenous peoples, Māori. The researcher, who identifies as New Zealand

European, aimed to provide culturally sensitive processes to the recruitment and use of data.

Given that there are unique methods in which to engage different cultural members ensuring that their values, beliefs, and customs are upheld, the researcher sought ethnicity information from the villages prior to recruitment. This was done to determine the need for engaging with cultural supervision and ensure culturally safe practices. The residents of both villages serviced apartments identified as European/ New Zealand European, so no cultural guidance was sought.

Data was stored securely. Consent forms were stored securely in a locked compartment in the researcher's study space and transcripts with identifying information removed were kept separate from these. Audio-recordings of the interviews were kept in locked files on the researcher's computer and digital copies of the transcripts were contained in password encrypted folders on the personal and private computer of the researcher. Only one other had any access to raw data, the research supervisor Christine Stephens. This information will be securely stored for five years and then disposed of appropriately.

### **Data Analysis**

## **Transcription**

The interviews were audio recorded, and then transcribed by the researcher.

Transcriptions included all dialogue related to the subject matter, excluding instances when conversation shifted to off-topic subjects, such as childhood homes and school, as these do not relate to current social experiences. The process of transcription was done by listening to short portions of audio, then pausing and typing out what was spoken. Transcription presented verbatim written accounts of participants speech; performed at a basic level, transcription included utterances, such as 'ahh' and nonverbal actions that provided emphasis to the participants statements as they occurred. While other transcription methods, such as Jeffersonian notation include deeper levels of information, such as laughter and length of pauses (Braun & Clarke, 2013), the level of transcription chosen for this study is adequate as the aim is to interpret that meaning of the experiences as conveyed in the spoken words. This is in contrast to other methods that required deeper analysis of the text itself, such as discourse analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2013).

#### Coding and Analysis

Interpretative phenomenological analysis has its own procedures for the analysing of data (Braun & Clarke, 2013). As such, the steps taken in analysis was taken from those outlined by Larkin and Thompson (2012).

Initially the researcher went over the cases and wrote down initial thoughts, feelings, and assumptions about the data. This process of 'free coding' helps to explicitly reflect on the data prior to the more systematised coding and analysis of the data.

Examining a new copy of one transcript at a time, the researcher went line-by-line and noted down objects of concerns, including people, places and events of importance and the experiential meanings, that is, the linguistic processes used to assign meaning to experiences.

These annotations formed the initial codes of the data and enabled the researcher to engage with the data more deeply. Initial codes were then organised and summarised to create clusters of objects and meanings. These formed tentative themes, or related units of content and patterns of meaning that recur in the data. This process was then repeated for the other transcripts with the researcher also noting down some initial interpretations of the data as these arose throughout the process of analysis.

Next, more critical questioning of the data and initial interpretations began through evaluating what the accounts of participants were revealing about their social experiences and the meanings that are attributed to these experiences. Themes were then clustered around patterns of meaning and experiences that recurred in the data. These included both convergent and divergent meanings related to the theme, reflecting that not all participant experiences would be the same. Analysis involved reading and rereading of transcripts and the questioning and discussion of codes and themes before the establishment of thematic labels to coherently convey the interpretation of the meanings within the theme and the relationships between themes.

#### **Research Rigour**

The rigorousness of any research project relates to the ability of the chosen research tools to appropriately investigate the research objective. Qualitative research is often accused of lacking in the rigour required to reproduce the research should such an attempt be made (Mays & Pope, 1995). Two important aspects of rigour are reliability and validity.

### Reliability

To ensure reliability, careful outlining of the methods used in recruiting, collecting, transcription and analysis of the raw data was done so that it is explicitly stated what steps were undertaken to conduct this research project.

#### Validity

To increase the validity of the findings, the researcher ensured to closely examine the data for instances of divergent accounts of a phenomenon to present an accurate reflection of the experiences. Doing so provides greater nuance and gives validation to the nuanced and often different phenomenological experiences of peoples (Mays & Pope, 1995).

## Researchers' reflections

The researcher's influence is indistinguishable from the research outcomes, as Finlay (2002 reminds us, "Our behaviour will always affect participants' responses ... influencing the direction of findings" (p.531). By reflecting on oneself within the research process, the researcher can explicate their biases, positions, and experiences in relation to the research subject and subsequent analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2013).

My interest in older adults follows from my early employment in working in retirement villages at the age of 18. Having no prior experience with the older population outside of my grandparents and causal interactions in the community, being able to interact with and assist older adults was both a revelation and a confronting. Being so young, I came into retirement villages with many ageist stereotypes of older adults as senile, frail, and isolated, and at the time my role affirmed these stereotypes. I was employed to work in dementia and continuing care, and as such was caring for those with high levels of both physical and cognitive decline. This did confirm many of my prior assumptions about the reality of being 'old'.

What I observed for the residents I assisted was limited visits from family and friends and most visits occurring within the retirement village. Most of the interaction residents had occurred among themselves or with staff, and activities involved watching performances or participating in indoor boules. As a care giver, I did not offer services to those living in the independent areas of the retirement villages and only occasionally would I communicate with these individuals due to the pace of the work. Later in my career I had the opportunity to

assist in the serviced apartments for a brief time. As a caregiver my role was to aide and enable these occupants, so I had limited chances to see how they participated in the village environment or learn about their wider social worlds. Seeing the differences in lifestyle and ability, however, began to dramatically change some of my assumptions about what it meant to live in retirement villages.

My interest in the social lives of older adult in the serviced apartments came from interaction with these individuals, which contrasted with my interaction with older adults with higher needs. I carried this interest with me over the years and was eventually able to examine these as I came into my graduate studies.

My position in the research is as an outsider. I make these definitions due to my outside position as a 33-year-old university student not meeting the characteristics of the participants in this study. While I have some understanding of retirement village living and the opportunities for participation in these facilities through my employment within, I have not experienced this as a resident and service user of retirement villages. I have also not been employed at either of the retirement villages in this study and given differences in size, services, and activities across retirement villages, I am unfamiliar with operations of the villages. Given my outsider position, it is likely the participants considered my age, the subject of my inquiry, and potentially a response bias leading them to appear in a favourable light through making light of negative experiences or avoiding discussing problems. This along with the disclosure of my caregiving past may have shaped the accounts of their social lives in a way that would be different were they talking with family and friends, general acquaintances or even a researcher closer to their own age.

### **Analysis**

Through analysis of the data, three themes appeared that described the social experiences of the participants in this study. These themes were labelled: contact, participation and, dependency and decline. Within each theme are subthemes that describe how social participation is experienced within the lifestyle enabled through serviced apartments residence, how different social networks are composed, and the facilitators and barriers to participation for the serviced apartment residents interviewed. The themes and subthemes are described in turn below.

#### **Theme: Contact**

The theme of contact includes the interactions that participants have with those in their circle and the ways they experience their social worlds. The important relationships with friends, family and among their neighbour residents provides valuable insight into the different means in which participants interacted and the support obtained through their social networks. Ageing and circumstance also had an impact on the degree of sociality for participants.

#### Subtheme: Friendships

Friendships are ongoing and endearing social connections for participants. Efforts to visit friends, keeping in contact and visiting old friends, both within and without the village environment, as well as the support and companionship offered through friendships were spoken of by participants.

Friends Within the Retirement Village. Many participants had shifted into the serviced apartments from the independent areas of the village. Previous years of residence meant that friendships were often formed among their neighbours within the village, after shifting into the serviced apartments, participants reported a preference for these prior friendships over serviced apartment residents:

'Oh, probably not an awful lot probably just mixing around here with friends . . . Mainly the independent cause I came from there and ahh they're more active really then the people from the serviced apartments.' (Charles)

This account of greater activity of independent residents suggests that they are more often maintaining social engagement with independent friends then their serviced apartment neighbours. Relationships made prior to shift and the physical ability of serviced apartment residents to visit their friends facilitated the continuation of these relationships:

'Occasionally (friends visit) but a lot of them err suffer old age worse than I do and coming up, even with the lift, is a thing for them so I, because I, am pretty mobile. I go and visit them far more often than they visit me.' (Detta)

Being more mobile than their friends in other areas of the retirement village enabled ongoing contact with friends within the retirement villages, with difficulty in accessing serviced apartments creating barriers to having friends visit them in their apartments.

Given the continuously changing condition of residents within retirement villages, the desire to provide support and companionship to friends who are unwell motivated participants to visit friends:

'Yes, there are two or three of them that aren't very well, and I go and see them. . . But umm ah yes, I visit quite a few especially if I know anyone is sick, I've got empathy for them because I'm so well in myself that I think they can't get out and umm.' (Norma)

It can be seen that continuing contact with friends in different parts of the retirement village were important for participants, who endeavoured to visit their friends regularly.

While serviced apartments are occupied by individuals with assistance requirements, those who remain in the independent areas of the retirement village can also experience physical decline that inhibits their ability to visit. Even so, the onus on visiting often appears to be on

the serviced apartment residents:

'No, I ahh mostly go to them.' (Estelle)

'Mostly go myself.' (Jean)

These accounts show that participants often visited their friends rather than receive their friends in their serviced apartments.

Maintaining connection with friends within the village are important parts of serviced apartments social networks, with these relationships providing fulfilling interactions:

'Ehh, I very much enjoy and take part a great deal in visiting various friends I've made so that I can have one on one conversations.' (Detta)

The participants appear to show preference for friends made in the village prior to their relocation into the serviced apartments. These relationships appeared to be maintained mostly by participants efforts to visit others over receiving guests, this was due to differing factors such accessibility and illness among the friends. While many friendships were maintained, some of these relationships have changed for participants since relocating to the serviced apartments:

'I still visit most of them although some of them have changed since then (shifting into apartment) I don't really know why.' (Detta)

Detta's experience with changing relationships since she relocated to the serviced apartment suggests that some friendships are more relationships of convenience or proximity and subject to change as age-related changes cause individuals to relocate. Changeability in relationships with others suggests a difference in the estimation of the value of some friends over others and this is reflected in the efforts of participants to maintain contact as well as how others engage with them when ease of contact is changed.

**Old Friends Out of the Village.** While proximity enables in-person interactions with friends, not all participants friends lived locally. Many have maintained decades long

friendships and remain in contact with these important persons:

'I've got one very dear old friend. . . We are pretty much the same age and she's also in a village and poor darling, she's a lot more handicapped than I am. Yet we've known each other since we were at varsity together - I still ring several of my friends from [out of town]. . . and people ring.' (Detta)

'Some of them on the phone yeap.' (Lionel)

Although separated by distant, remaining in contact with friends appears to be a meaningful engagement for participants, the emotional satisfaction from these connections motivated the effort to get in contact. This motivation appears to prompt reconnection even when contact has not been made for many years:

'I've got some old ones due to ring me up I haven't heard from for years, but I heard they wanted to get in touch.' (Charles)

'I do still hear from someone that I knew in the '30s at school when I started school.

Ah I never heard from her for ages, simply ages and ah I've forgotten how it happened umm I think I sent her a Christmas card.' (Jean)

Re-establishing connection after many years shows that positive memories and associations are meaningful enough to motivate people to seek out old friends and open links of communication to reconnect. Seeking out others in one's former social circles could also be a response to the inevitable shrinking of friends, as age often brings about physical limitations, and with friends passing away, older adults social circles inevitably experience changes over time:

'Of course, my best friends are always getting older, and they are getting older and so they don't get about as much.' (Estelle)

'Ummm yes, I used to go over. . . and visit some school friends over there from eighty odd years ago but they died, as I say, a couple of months ago.' (Charles)

These examples show the different impacts that ageing, mortality and relational changes have on friendships. However, friendships adapt to the changes imposed upon them through the ageing process with the importance of these enduring relationships comprising important parts of participants social networks.

The Support and Companionship of Friends. Friendship benefits extended beyond visitations and conversational partners for participants, with many reporting the different forms of support that their friends provided to them. In practical terms, friends enabled serviced apartment residents to retain control of their schedules and reduce dependence on the retirement village:

'Ah, one of my friends in the independent apartments he picks

me up on Monday mornings at about ten to eight and we go shopping.' (Charles)

Charles's friend retainment of their license and vehicle allowed him to do his grocery shopping independently. The benefits of having friends with vehicles were further revealed by other participants:

'Well, I get a taxi to church there are people here who go but I prefer to go when I want to go and then it's very nice if someone gives me a lift home.' (Jean)

'Another friend from here who is still driving, she and I put out and judge the horses from the side-line.' (Detta)

Independence and continued engagement with valued activities were facilitated with the support of friends who share interests and are able to assist in access. The ability to have a degree of control over one's schedule allowed Jean to arrive and leave when she is ready, and for Detta, friends enable her to continue an activity that would likely be lost to her should she not have her friend's assistance in going to see the horses.

60

Beyond assistance with transportation, friends were able to support participants in

other ways. Having recently undergone an operation, Estelle had her friend able to come and

stay with her in her apartment:

'Friends came down from Napier and spent a week and by that time I was pretty well

independent again.' (Estelle)

Having her friend able to stay meant that Estelle had continued support on hand to

take the pressure of daily living so she could focus on regaining her independence. It can be

seen that friends are able to facilitate ongoing engagement in activities and enable

independence for serviced apartment residents.

Another way that friends provided support was on a more sympathetic and emotional

level:

'We can both weep on each other's shoulders. We've both been very annoyed at

becoming older.' (Detta)

Here Detta describes being able to give and receive support with her friend,

highlighting the importance of having contact with others with whom participants can confide

in and empathise with the ongoing changes that ageing brings.

This subtheme presented the accounts of participants in relation to their friendships,

both within and outside of the retirement villages. As can be seen, many participants had

established relationships with independent residents formed when they resided in the area,

with the maintenance of these friendships given a greater priority over forming new one's

with other serviced apartment residents. In terms of interactions, visiting friends was more

common than receiving them, while remaining in contact and reconnecting with older friends

via phone calls helps maintain important emotional connections with valued others.

Subtheme: Family

This subtheme represents the connections participants reported with family members. Family relationships include the role that family play in the social lives of serviced apartments residents, the degree of contact between family members and the location of family visits are explored in participants talk.

**Relocation for the Younger Generation.** Participants who sifted to the Nelson/Tasman region appeared to base this decision on the closeness to their children:

'Well, our daughter lives down here. . . she's the baby of the family.' (Lionel)
'No ah Son lives in Christchurch he's the oldest Daughter lives. . . in the Far North
and the younger one lives here only four kilometres away.' (Norma)

Relocation meant that participants were able to be closer to some of their children, having family members living locally appears to be a determining factor to the choice of residence for participants. This is further emphasised by Jean's choice to relocate:

'With my nephew living in (Nelson/Tasman). . . I stayed on I ahh like the area and I like the dry climate.' (Jean)

Having no children of her own, the closeness of her nephew was one of the reasons on which the shift to the area was based. Proximity to family is a consideration to residence for serviced apartment residents.

**Frequency of Contact.** Given that family appear to have some influence on the choice to live in the Nelson/Tasman region, the amount of in-person contact that participants have with family is variable:

'She comes here once a week and we phone each other regularly.' (Frank)

'Ahh couple times a week . . . . during the winter its harder for her because it's so cold when she's finished but, in the summer she'll often pop in.' (Norma)

Children often visit their parents within the serviced apartments, although this changes in response to their children's schedules. This shows that contact with family members are important elements of serviced apartment residents' social networks.

While family are important contacts for participants, there were indications that the amount of in-person contact is not to degree that participants would like:

'I think we [children] spend as much time together oh they're busy too so yea.'
(Estelle)

Here Estelle appears to report that contact with her children is adequate yet also suggests that their being 'busy' is an inhibiting factor to greater contact. This indicates that for some participants, contact with children could be less frequent then desired.

As noted, some participants find themselves without children, while Jean has her nephew living locally who she often connects with, Detta has been able to make her own family. Her relationship with her daughters is similar to those reported by others in terms of contact:

'One of my sorta daughters. . . comes nearly every Thursday umm to have lunch. She comes in tears up the stairs bolts her lunch and tears down the stairs again.' (Detta)

The distinction of these individuals to the rank of daughters, emphasises the importance and closeness of the relationship and while rushed, the connection between Detta and her 'daughters' is close and valued. As with other participants, contact is regular, however like Estelle, Detta account suggests that the amount of time spent together is not enough.

**The Value of Family.** The importance and appreciation for members of their family were frequently noted by participants:

'Oh, they do I I'm blessed with them I really am.' (Jean)

'She's (daughter) been absolutely wonderful, especially since I stuffed when I had my

hip done at the end of July and she went with me over to Blenheim where I had it done and then spent four nights with me here.' (Estelle)

These positive relationships and appreciation of family are recognised by participants.

The support afforded by family living close offers some security for participants when they are faced with health problems.

Family being present during times of need extended to enabling participants to manage their own affairs outside of relying on the retirement village for supports:

'If I need to do other shopping, I go ummm my daughter will take me.' (Norma)

'And during the lockdown my daughter. She's in a certain job that she could get my groceries in, and I could collect them.' (Frank)

These extracts show that support is mostly for extra forms of supports, such as gathering groceries when residents were unable to leave the village or 'other shopping' that is required by participants through giving a lift to the shops.

While participants appeared to base their residence on proximity to younger family members and these relatives were often the major familial supports in the lives of serviced apartment residents. Many participants also had surviving siblings or various health profiles to whom they regularly connected with:

'My sister has been, my ah young sister. . . has been ill for a very long time so I spend umm time with her umm Tuesday afternoon and Saturday afternoon are taken up with her.' (Estelle)

Estelle has a vehicle meaning that she can visit her sister often, the consistency in which these visits occur and the dedication she has in being there for her ill sibling emphasises the meaningfulness of this relationship to Estelle and the importance of being there for her sister. Other participants, who do not have vehicles can't visit siblings as often but also report regular contact, mostly through the phone:

'Well, I know there's two ah cousins. . . and I phone my brother. . . ah semiregularly.' (Frank)

'I had four, I've got three were all in contact every day. . . Ones ah two are in [up north] the other [is overseas] and we text everyday just about and if we don't text, we ring.' (Norma)

Regular contact with siblings living further away highlights the need for participants to interact with their family and keep in touch about what is happening in the lives of siblings. The importance of contact with family in the face of illness (Estelle's sister) and sibling death (Norma) indicates that increased value is placed on these connections and the interest participants have in treasuring these relationships.

Outings with Family. Although family represents important parts of participants social lives, the degree to which participants reported socialising with their children out of the retirement village was limited:

'She's offered too but Ehh I'm not very happy Ehh with my son-in-law. I like him and we get along very well together but on the other hand I don't feel comfortable in his presence. . . I don't I haven't got the same habits that he's got. He likes drinking and I don't ah drink. . . and when I'm in his house I feel like I'm interfering with what he would be doing with himself.' (Frank)

'No not really my daughter said to me the other day 'we could go for a drive somewhere mum', and I said, 'Well I don't really need that dear cause I'm really happy here.' (Norma)

For Frank, his preference to receive his daughter within the village rather than visit hers results from an uneasiness he feels in the presence of his son-in-law, feeling as though he is 'interfering' with what his son-in-law might rather be doing. Norma prefers to remain in the village over opportunities to get out and explore the region through her daughters offers

to take her out because of being 'really happy' within the village compound. These reports suggest that participants positive associations with one aspect of their lives (village), and the desire to avoid uncomfortable environments (son-in-law) makes participants willing to reduce opportunities to be social in favour of feeling happy. However, expectation of visitations and outings with family could influence the decision to venture out of the village:

'I went to the movies with my daughter. We took her daughter and my granddaughter, and we went to see Peter Rabbit. Oh, that was fun, and we were in the front seat and that was lovely but that's the only time I've been out really.' (Norma)

The decision of Norma to go to the movies but not on a drive with her daughter highlight selectiveness in outings based upon expectations of enjoyment, suggesting Norma gets more pleasure out of going to see a film with her family then she would get going for a drive with her daughter.

To summarise this subtheme, the role of family is an important one for serviced apartment residents, with regular contact taking place and families playing an important role in ongoing support, both practically and emotionally for participants. The importance of contact with family appears to be more valued than the contact of friends, despite the former often appearing to occur less then would be preferred. However, interactions with family appear to occur mostly within the service apartments, with some participants preferring family come to visit or circumstances rendering this necessary.

# Subtheme: Relationships within the Serviced Apartments

This subtheme was revealed as another important part of participants social networks, given the proximity to each other and the daily interactions that occur with provided lunches and group activities, serviced apartment residents by far made up the majority of social contact for participants. In this subtheme, the interactions and conceptualisation of these relations are explored.

Serviced Apartment Residents as Neighbours not Friends. It has already been noted that most participants reported friends with the independent residents, however those reports were most common among those residents who had lived in the region for many years before shifting into the serviced apartments. For those who shifted to the region, forming friendships among the serviced apartment has not really occurred, with superficial or detached social relationships composing the interactions between residents. Lionel had no local connections outside of family when he came into the serviced apartment, his description of friendships with other residents highlights the superficiality of resident relationships:

'The jokers I play snooker with and bowls I see them around the place, and everyone knows everyone here and we're all 'friends' but its limited.' (Lionel)

The casualness of this statement and the infers that 'friends' is a platitudinous term to refer to those he sees when engaging in an activity with. Frank further expounds the casualness of resident relationships but instead caveats the difficulty in forming friendships as related to age:

'I think acquaintances better then friends I think once you get to a certain age you don't form friendships very easily. . . You just get along. You don't ahh I don't, there's no body in particular that I do dislike and there nobody in particular that I like.' (Frank)

Frank expressed no difficulty in his ability to 'get along' with others suggesting that his has good but not deep interactions with others in the serviced apartments. However, Norma also shifted from outside of the region into her serviced apartment and has reported that she has made many friends within the village:

'Yes, I've got a lot of friends.' (Norma)

These experiences of making friends show that newer residents within the serviced apartments expressed shallow and casual relations with fellow residents, while the local

participants reporting of friendships being kept mostly with independent residents. While this is not shared among all new serviced apartment residents, the accounts of friendship formation as difficult suggests that serviced apartments are restrictive in ways that inhibit the formation of friendships among participants.

The Sociality of the Group Meals. The lunchtime meal is held communally in the main dining room for serviced apartment residents and is a part of the service package given to residents who shift into the serviced apartments. Lunchtime is therefore a time when residents have the opportunity to interact with one another during a common social activity: meal sharing. The socialness of the lunchtime meal is of more importance to some participants then it is to others:

'We sit at the same table I have a lovely table.' (Estelle)

'You see yes, I'm often not hungry. . . we always have a lot of fun telling stories and I tell them silly things.' (Norma)

Estelle enjoys the company of the others at her table. Norma reports feeling unhungry at mealtimes often, but still goes down to lunch to socialise with her friends and this means more to her then the meal itself. For these participants mealtime offers a chance to sit with their friends and enjoy their company, indicating that mealtime is as much a social activity as it is a means of nourishment.

Although mealtimes offer an opportunity for social interaction, other participants take a more pragmatic view of the provided lunchtime meal:

'It's an activity to keep us alive.' (Lionel)

'Ummm no that's just where it is I guess.' (Charles)

These participants perceive mealtimes as an obligations and a means of survival over opportunities for social interaction. Further expanding upon this idea of the shared lunch having little importance, Lionel presents it as often a burden:

'It ruins the whole day because if you want to go out in the morning you've got to be back for lunch and if you're going out in the afternoon you've got to wait. . . They don't, you don't get your money back. . . In their conversation when we're having morning tea all the guys are talking about different things out Motueka and Tapawera and whose truck they have and whose farm this was and its very parochial.' (Lionel)

For Lionel, mealtimes are an obligation to attend, given the inclusion of the meal in the village fees. With the desire to get the value for money means that Lionel finds his day revolves around the lunchtime schedule, which in his experience is at times inefficient and often interfering with other plans. It can be seen that differences exist in the conception of mealtime as being social or necessary interactions for participants. While some report positive rapport with their table fellows, others do not find much pleasure in the conversations that take place, which appear to require local knowledge to participate in.

Living with Others and Clashing Personalities. When people are made to live closely with one another, it is unlikely they will get along with each other all the time.

Although participant interactions with fellow residents were mostly positive there are some resident's participants do not get along with:

'Yes, I think so. There's nobody I feel [don't get along with], ahh yes there's one. . . There are several other women I've met who also feel as I do.' (Detta)

'Not so much although (name redacted) who lives sort of at the other end of my block comes and visits me every day whether I need it or not. . . No but that one I mean she has been so good to me ever since I've arrived.' (Estelle)

Detta and Estelle have experiences of having fellow residents of whom they are not fond. Detta reports having a difficult coresident while Estelle has a coresident that she feels cumbersome, yet her visits are tolerated because this person helps Estelle on occasion. While Estelle prefers to remain civil with resident who is overbearing, others are able to be avoided:

'It's big enough that if you're not compatible that you don't have to mix.' (Jean)

The spaciousness of the village enables residents to keep to their preferred social circles and avoid those they are not 'compatible' with. Avoiding others make the serviced apartments more pleasant to live within, although at times general conversations with others can be meet with stern replies:

'I was going down somewhere, and I said, 'oh we've got a lovely day here haven't we, it's snowing in (redacted),' and he said, 'I don't care!' just like just like that I thought oh well I'll avoid him.' (Norma)

Despite unpleasant interactions, the pleasure gained by interacting with other residents overrides the potential for critical remarks from others:

'No, I just leave them because they've probably got problems, I talk to everybody and if they don't want to talk then. . .' (Norma)

These differences in dealing with negative others appear to be dealt with in ways that promote the positive outcomes for participants. For Estelle, tolerating her overbearing neighbour allows her to benefit from the support provided to her from this resident, for Jean the best response is to avoid people she doesn't get along with, while Norma finds the chance for pleasant conversations more motivating than the risk of rudeness.

**Relations with Staff.** The need for supports or services are the purpose of shifting into the serviced apartments, as such residents within have a lot of interactions with the staff. Staff can encompass a wide range of roles within the retirement villages and provide different services for residents. Participants accounts of staff relationships as positive:

'I have wonderful friends among the staff. . . I enjoy her company enormously, presumably she does enjoy my company too. So ahh we're friends.' (Detta) 'With the staff? Oh yes, they're a cheeky lot we bounce of one another quite abit.' (Charles)

Given the generational differences and age gaps between residents and staff, the pleasure of interactions and experiential companionship provided by these interactions are important positive social relationships for serviced apartment residents.

Others note the support and service the staff facilitate as valued aspects of the lifestyle provided within the serviced apartment:

'The staff they are just wonderful they will do anything like if you want something done and they're going past your door, and you ask them they will just do it for you.'

(Norma)

'Oh, I couldn't say enough for them, they're great'. (Frank)

These accounts of staff relationships and interactions highlight that participants greatly appreciated and valued the assistance provided by the workers in the serviced apartments areas.

The Use of the Serviced Apartments. It was mentioned above that participants often visited their retirement village friends rather than receiving guests in their apartments.

Participants noted that the serviced apartments are places where they can have some quiet time and retreat, rather than receiving guests:

'By the time I do my other things its, oh I'd just like a little time a little me time.'
(Estelle)

'I get tired I get very, very, tired some days I come here and about four o'clock in the afternoon. I'm just no good at all I just have to sit here and let myself go.' (Norma)

Serviced apartments are used by participants as a space to be alone and rest, Estelle attributes her as a space for 'a little me time', given that serviced apartment blocks within retirement villages often have communal spaces for interactions and activities, participant apartments could represent a personal space just for them. While these participants see their serviced apartments as places to recuperate from a busy day, Lionel perceives them as

isolating spaces in which fellow residents hide away in:

'Here you're living in an apartment and you're like a chook farm if you like and you walk down the passage and you open a door and you come in and you shut the door and there's no one around. . . Here the only way you socialise is the to up in the main lounge up there. . . Oh well the people I play bowls with and what not I see them and all but they're like birds. . . they all disappear and like the people who are there's like thirty-five who are in the dining room at lunch time and as soon as lunch is over [claps quickly].' (Lionel)

Lionel's account of the apartments as 'chook farms' symbolises for him that the serviced apartments are isolating places. While others use the apartments to rest and recuperate, Lionel's perception is one in which residents only want to socialise when an activity is happening, before leaving to isolate themselves in their rooms. This limits the opportunities for informal, casual interactions to occur, and appears to limit the chance for some residents to form more endearing social connections.

In summary, social interactions with other serviced apartment residents for the most part appear to be formal in nature, e.g., during mealtimes, in a village organised manner and scheduled in advance. For those who shifted into the serviced apartments from out of the region, making friends with fellow residents has not really occurred, and while interactions are positive, they are also shallow. Participants noting informal instances of banter were scarce, save for Norma, with many participants also reporting friends within the independent areas of the village or failing to make significant relationships with other residents. This could be interpreted to suggest that serviced apartments do not facilitate the establishment or enhancement of friendships for residents, while they do provide several opportunities for residents to interact and socialise, this does not appear to facilitate deeper connection. While interactions with fellow residents were mostly positive, clashes do occur, but these are

avoidable with little impact on resident experience. Staff interactions are important social interactions for participants, with friendships forming between residents and staff.

Contact as a theme showed that serviced apartment residents remain in contact with many different social partners, particularly among friends and family. Friendships were becoming more difficult to maintain due to the effects of ageing and physical decline, however friends are valued supports and companions. Family, often younger relatives, visit regularly however the duration of these visits is lacking for participants. Participants contact with fellow residents and staff are mostly pleasant, however the interactions among residents are often shallow and based around planned activities, with people often staying in their rooms outside of formal activities. Overall, contact with others occurred within the village with participants increasingly receiving visitors within the village over going out to visit others.

# **Theme: Participation in Social Activities**

This theme highlights the type of social activities that are available to participants and their experiences of these opportunities. Village social opportunities, invitations to participate, and changes in activity level are all elements that influence the choices of activities for participants.

# Subtheme: Location of Activities

This subtheme came as participants spoke of what activities they engaged in and where. Given the emphasis in retirement village marketing aimed at the promotion and continuation of independence and fulfilling social engagement, this theme reveals the types of activities serviced apartments residents engaged in and, where.

**Village Activities.** The activity coordinators from the two retirement villages arrange a multitude of activities for residents to join, as well the villages providing sporting and recreational facilities for residents to participate in. Residents are provided a schedule at the

beginning of the month outlining events and activities. While there are various forms of entertainment provided, participants appear to mostly stick to regular activities of their preference:

'Well, I play indoor boules twice a week play snooker every other day of the week and that's about it.' (Lionel)

'I love craft I love to go to craft I love to listen to music, memory stories.' (Norma)

The activities described by participants above show the differences in activities participants join in. Many participants note the days and times in which they participate in their activities:

'Oh, basically it's in the village. As you'll see in the programme on Tuesdays there's a drive to Motueka. And Friday this week there's a film on and on Saturday there's Rummikjen.' (Frank)

This shows how participants rely on the activities organised by the retirement village activities. Utilising the village activities for their activities allows participants the ability to continue participation in activities that they might otherwise be denied due to difficulties in accessing these activities in the community, as noted by Frank most of his activities were located within the retirement village and organised by the retirement village,

Community Opportunities. The reliance on the retirement village to organise activities both within and out of the village recognises that participants are often without transport and the physicality that allows them to participate in community activities on their own volition. One participant who is still able to drive makes the most of her ability to engage in community activities:

'I figure that if I don't keep up with my outside activities that I become so institutionalised that I don't want to do that yet. . . I will probably do more as I can do less out in the community.' (Estelle)

Wanting to remain engaged in her social activities within the community suggest that given the opportunity and ability, individuals within the serviced apartments might desire to avoid a reliance on the retirement village for provision of entertainment and social engagement. Further evidence of the desire to retain community access is described by Jean in relation to attending church services:

'When I shifted in here, I was just so exhausted that I ahh couldn't get up early enough for the nine o'clock church service on the Sunday, so I now go to church on Wednesday. . . When I feel like I can't get up to the service then I will look at what they do here.' (Jean)

While the retirement villages offer chapel services, it is clear that Jean prefers to retain her connection to her local church, even changing the day she attends when she became tired. The accounts given above highlight the importance of serviced apartments connections to community activities, while retaining the retirement village offerings as a last resort when community engagement is reduced.

To summarise this subtheme, serviced apartment residents take part in a variety of activities throughout the week. Most of these activities appear to be retirement village organised, showing the capacity of the retirement village to cater to a range of interests. The need to use the retirement villages activities appears related to the loss of ability to participate within the community, with those activities that individuals can access being maintained for as long as able. In selecting what to participate in, the expectation of enjoyment appears to be a deciding factor.

# Subtheme: Social Engagement and Lifestyle

Living in serviced apartments provides a different environment then residents have perhaps known when living in the community. This theme explores the accounts of changes in social engagement for participants since shifting into the serviced apartments and how they evaluate these changing experiences.

**New Activities and People.** Participants discussed changes in their levels of social engagement since shifting into the serviced apartments. Some participants discovered new activities to participate in:

'There's Rummikjen. . . I ah I didn't I'd never seen a game before I came, and I sat beside them one day and I know it after two hours of watching.' (Frank)

'I've taken up the boules.' (Lionel)

The benefits of the retirement village offering different events and activities means participants interests to be catered to in many ways, as well as provide options to learn and participate in new activities. For other participants, the retirement village has enabled them to continue to participate in activities they formally enjoyed in the community. However, having the retirement village has enabled changes in the way the activities are experienced:

'I could always do knitting and stitching but I was also on my own when I finished with the with the stitching group but here, I've got people all the time.' (Norma)

Increased proximity and interaction with others are a notable change for Norma since moving to the serviced apartments, increasing the social aspect of the activities, and reducing feelings of social isolation and loneliness. For Norma, being less socially isolated is a notable positive change. Norma did experience periods of loneliness prior to shifting into the retirement village:

'I was ten years on my own and I sometimes I got abit lonely, so I used to get into the car and go down to the supermarket just even if I didn't buy anything. . . once I was with people, I was fine.' (Norma)

The social contact that living within the retirement village provides for Norma allows her to better enjoy her daily life through the proximity to fellow residents. Having people

around who share in interests and provide a feeling social connection, decreasing feelings of loneliness.

**Satisfaction with Social Activities.** When discussing how satisfied participants were with their social lives in the serviced apartments participants overwhelmingly were complimentary:

'We have everything. . . my social life is fine I'm very happy you know I'm lucky.'
(Norma)

'I'm very happy this is an ideal place for me.' (Charles)

'I'm very satisfied and comfortable with the life I'm leading now.' (Detta)

Participant's report that they are satisfied with the lifestyle provided them within the serviced apartments, both socially and in relation to the activities offered. Retirement villages promotion of a lifestyle appear to be meeting the needs of serviced apartment residents.

In summarising this theme, it can be seen that serviced apartment residents remain engaged in social activities within the retirement village, while these are mostly organised by the activity co-ordinators, participants found varied activities to suit their preferences.

However, some activities are off unable to be undertaken due to physical limitations. The retirement villages could make up the totality of serviced apartment activities however, those who are able to remain engaged with their community activities and services make a concerted effort to do so, with the comfort of the retirement village resources when needed recognised. Most participants reported their level of activity as sufficient for them and the retirement villages provision of activity as satisfactory, feeling happy in their social lives and company serviced apartment living offers. Others were inclined to remain active in their community activities in resistance to becoming 'institutionalised', however they acknowledged that in the future they will use the retirement village more as needed in the future

# **Theme: Dependency**

This theme reviews the participants experiences of the impact of age-related decline or injury on continuation of activities and participation on an independent level. This also highlights the degree to which participants are dependent on others for practical and social assistance.

# Subtheme: Age and Decline Impacts Participation

This subtheme notes the impact that ageing, and decline has on serviced apartments residents' ability to participate in activities, both within and without of the retirement village. It was revealed as an important subtheme when talk from participants converged on how the barriers that physical decline and age had on their ability to participate.

**Physical Decline Shrinking Environments.** The effects of ageing on the ability to participate in activities meant that serviced apartment residents could manage only shorter distances and tried easily:

'I used to walk through there (a park) quite often. For me just to walk now I find just a circle of the village is quite far enough.' (Detta)

The restrictions that walking problems can cause are further isolating to the degree that participants cannot manage as much physical activity. Physical limitations reduce the proximity in which individuals can walk, causing them to become confined to the retirement village setting:

'If I go down every day like I do for lunch by the time I walk back I'm knackered.'
(Frank)

'No, unfortunately from your standpoint because of my physical problems I have to rely on, I'm basically confined to the village.' (Frank)

Here the ability to participate out of the retirement village is directly related to Franks physical problems, feeling very tired with short physical activity causes confinement and a

shrinking of the environment that can be participated in. How an individual feels in their ability to walk outside of the retirement village is influenced upon their sense of safety:

'I walk around here but ah at the moment I haven't got the confidence to walk outside because I'm just so unsteady but if I someone hold my arm, I can walk there's no problem to walk it's just the unsteadiness. . . If I had a tumble out there who would see me?' (Norma)

It can be seen that fear of not being seen or helped should an attempt to venture out too far from the retirement village is a reason to stay close to home for Norma. This passages points out how the retirement village provides a sense of security in relation to physical limitations, with staff and services around to assist serviced apartment residents should the need arise.

**Physical Limitations on Participation.** All participants reported some form of decline, with these issues causing reduction or cessation of activities altogether. Reductions of activities have an impact on socialising through the need to restrict certain event or manage the extent to which engagement can occur. In demonstrating how hearing impacts upon social participation, Detta reports:

'In that my deafness makes me, of course I've got a hearing aid. . . but all sorts of things like that they were having a concert down there with beautiful. . . I believe it was beautiful, the singing.' (Detta)

'Umm because of my hearing I just cannot tolerate groups of voices. Ah I very much enjoy and take part a great deal in visiting various friends I've made so that I can have one on one conversations.' (Detta)

This example illustrates the limitations that hearing problems have on residents' participation in things they want to join in, such as concerts. Having to miss out on activities

and an intolerance for groups due to hearing problems results in a reduction of social interactions to those that can occur one on one.

Physical limitations mean that serviced apartment residents are unable to participate in activities of interest:

'I tried out for boules, but it wasn't any good for my back and I like walking, but I can't do much of that at the moment.' (Estelle)

This passage shows that the desire to participate in activities is present among serviced apartment residents however due to physical problems, many activities are now inaccessible to them. Issues resultant from physical limitations also impact upon less physical forms of activities for participants:

'I would love to be able to go and sit and play the pokies... No but I can't. I would have to go in a taxi, and I'd be - I'm just too wobbly even on that (walker) but that's one of the things I like to do just for fun.' (Norma)

This highlights how need for assistance and issues related to access result in participants having to relinquish enjoyable activities. These examples show how the burden of decline can be seen to significantly impact upon serviced apartments residents to engage in activities they enjoy, and while some are able to adapt to this changes and find ways in which to remain engaged with others, the loss of ability and restrictions imposed by these limitations have made activities undoable.

# Subtheme: Transport

With age come a loss of license for many older adults. This subtheme came to be an important aspect of decline and age for participants, with many speaking on transport, and speaking on the ability of access transportation facilitating or inhibiting social participation out of the retirement village.

Transport Maintaining Community Integration. Only two participants still held

their licenses and cars. The use of a personal vehicle enables ongoing community participation:

'Yea I'm probably not typical because I have my car here and I still have my various things that I do out in the community.' (Estelle)

This passage recognises the novelty of owning a vehicle and the access that it enables Estelle to maintain with the community. Having the independence of one's own schedule and participate in activities out of the retirement village. Vehicles facilitate this independence and community participation as is further exemplified with the next passage:

'Yes, I've got the scooter and I got into that about two three months ago and that helps too ... I go into [town] every now and again and around about locally.' (Charles)
'Yea the other friends are just this side of (town).' (Charles)

The use of a mobility enables Charles to venture out of the retirement village and pay visits to his friends within the community. These passage emphasise how the use of vehicles enable participants to remain active within their communities, visiting friends and participating in activities of interest to them.

Reliance on Others for Transport. The use of the retirement villages transportation has been demonstrated above as the major way in which serviced apartment residents access the community for outing. Another way in which a lack of transport cause increased dependence on the retirement villages is the use of supplied transport to get groceries:

'Well, I go down to [supermarket] in the van now because I no longer drive'. (Detta)
'The bus goes up the road for shopping for an hour and that's when I buy my food.'
(Jean)

The use of the retirement village vehicles to enable residents to do their groceries is beneficial for allowing participants access to the shops, however it appears that the provided transport does not do enough to provide assistance for residents with greater physical needs: 'I go with Miss Daisy's and do grocery shopping.' (Norma)

Miss Daisy is a local transport and assistance service that individuals can book to help them get to and from places and assist them in performing activities. There are costs related to the use of this service, but it allows users the additional support of having someone by them throughout the shopping trip, which is difficult for retirement villages transport to provide.

The value of transport is the independence and autonomy it allows older adults, however retaining a license is rare for those living in serviced apartments. For those with a vehicle, either a car or a mobility scooter, it can be seen that they have more autonomy in engaging with others and activities out of the retirement village. For those without a license, their community excursions are reliant on the retirement village and other services to perform necessary tasks such as groceries.

On top outings to the supermarkets, the retirement villages in this study offer social excursions to different areas of the district, such as cinemas or cafes around. These van rides provide an option for serviced apartment residents to get out of the village for a time, although the available locations for these outings are often the same place, as Frank reports:

'Recently err we've had a lot of going to the same places because there aren't many places that can have two vans ... And you have to get parking for two vans and places inside the place for walkers and there aren't many places you can go.' (Frank)
'I haven't been I've only been on one trip so at the meetings I've had to ask if there's any possibility that they could on another day so that I could go.' (Norma)

Transportation is a double burden in relation to these retirement village arranged outings, Frank reported that the need for two van parking and the requirement for accessibility for those going with mobility issues meaning that often the trips are repeated visits to location. While joining in retirement village run community outings is in high

demand, there are limits in the ability for local businesses to accommodate the vans parking or provide appropriate accessibility of the building for more physical impaired individuals.

This subtheme shows how, without a license, serviced apartment residents are largely dependent on the retirement village to provide community access. Community engagement is therefore limited for serviced apartment residents who rely upon the retirement village to organise excursion, with barriers imposed by inadequate public access designed to accommodate vans and those with mobility issues. While an important facilitator for community access, reliance on the retirement village to access the community limits choice and does not offer as much assistance as some residents require, meaning they must arrange outside services for support with transport.

To summarise the theme of dependency and decline, it can be seen that serviced apartment residents are increasingly finding their social worlds shrinking as a result of physical limitations necessitating remaining within the parameter of the retirement village more for fear of safety and weakness. Physical limitations also mean that activities must be stopped or adapted to changing abilities or difficulties associated with accessing activities. Having a vehicle is one means in which some participants can reach the community, but this is minority among participants, who rely on the retirement villages or paid transport to reach the community for shopping, and while the retirement village does provide community outings for entertainment, these have become routine due to limits in accessibility within the community to facilitate those with physical limitations.

### A Brief Discussion on Covid 19

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic response measures adopted by the retirement villages, residents were separated at mealtimes, with limits on numbers at a table. With the extended lockdowns enforced by the New Zealand government and the focus on protection for susceptible older adults, restrictions within retirement villages were greater than those for

community residents and the length of these restrictions were greater for residents within retirement villages and rest homes. The result of these health measures, participants were discouraged from leaving the village, with guests unable to visit.

# Confined to the Retirement Village

Participants spoke about how these restrictions bore out in their experience:

'No one was allowed in from outside into us apart from the helpers.' (Frank)

In discussing their experiences of lockdown participants reported that it was not too difficult for them to manage.

Given the confinement within the retirement village parameter, participants were unable to receive or visit friends and relative on the outside, while this might impact upon feelings of loneliness or isolation from loved ones, the participant reports suggest otherwise:

'Not really because you could text, I've got a phone you can text, and you can see people here.' (Norma)

The ability to maintain contact with loved ones during lockdown helped participants feel connected to those on the outside, and the interactions that residents had within the retirement village helped to stave off loneliness for some participants.

Overall participants reported that the lockdown experience was not too difficult: 'It wasn't too stressed. . . No, we seemed to get on very well.' (Charles)

Although retirement village responses to the pandemic meant residents were to remain within the retirement village and not accept visitors, participants reported being able to manage well, maintaining contact with family and friends on the outside.

#### Activities.

During the lockdown period all retirement village organised activities had to be cancelled to maintain social distancing, this meant that participants were unable to participate in the activities that they relied on for their entertainment. While residents were encouraged

to maintain a distance among themselves and staff, some were able to exclusively socialise if they kept these 'bubbles' small:

'Ah [townhouse friend] just over the other side there she gets around in a scooter and she loves playing cards so ah during lockdown it was great, we were a bubble.'

(Estelle)

Having a friend within the independent areas enabled Estelle a place to go to socialise and participate in activities that helped pass the time. The ability to continue in valued activities and interactions with close friends helped to pass the time and made the lockdown experience more pleasant. For others, passing the day meant becoming more physical:

'Not a problem I just walked around the village every day and did lots of walking.'
(Charles)

Serviced apartment residents were able to spend their times engaging in activities that they were able to perform within the retirement village guidelines for the Covid-19 response.

### Mealtime

Social restrictions meant changes to regular seating and mealtime adjustments for residents:

'Oh no we had we were given meals up here alternatively one day upstairs one day and downstairs . . . . we shared the dining down below half the time.' (Charles) 'Well, there was a change in a certain things that we weren't allowed to do. Ah like at lunch for example they separated us at the tables.' (Frank)

Serviced apartment residents noted the adjustment at mealtimes as one of the major changes to village lifestyle.

To summarise participant experience of the Covid-19 lockdown response; while isolated from the outside world serviced apartment residents were able to maintain connections with loved ones in ways that they already were doing outside of lockdown.

Given that participants are increasingly constrained to the retirement village anyway, the lack of access to the outside did not provide much difference to their experience as it usually is. The major difference reported by participants was the changes to the mealtime seating which meant only two to a table and alternating use of the dining hall for meals, however participants appear to adjust to these changes well. Overall, participants reporting doing well with the necessary changes, with many able to find ways to engage in activities of pleasure, either alone or in intra-village bubbles.

#### Discussion

In this study, the social experiences of older adults living in serviced apartments was examined. The purpose of this investigation was to discover themes related to the participants experiences of their social worlds as influenced by their living environment. Using interpretative phenomenological analysis this study was conducted for the purpose of examining the meanings of the social experiences recounted by the participants in the interviews. The themes related to the social contact of participants which comprised chiefly of friends, family and coresidents within the serviced apartments, the social engagement with various activities offered within the retirement village and in the wider community, the impacts of decline and the increased dependency that this wrought through loss of mobility and transportation.

The following discusses the research findings in two parts. The first part focuses on the social lives as experienced by participants in this study, examining the themes in relation to the wider literature. In the second part, results will be examined through a theoretical perspective to assess how participants social experiences might be understood in theoretical terms.

### Part One: The Social Lives of Older Adults in Serviced Apartments

Participant accounts of their friendships revealed that the length of residence and location prior to shifting into serviced apartments appeared to influence the degree to which participants reported having friends with the retirement village. Those who relocated from the independent living village areas, knew residents prior to shifting or lived in the region prior to shifting reported friendships within the retirement village, chiefly among the fully independent residents. While those who shifted into the serviced apartments directly from out of the region and with no prior social contacts within the village reported positive interactions with fellow residents but did not label them friends.

The theme of contact showed how social networks were maintained with others established prior to shifting into the serviced apartments. Regarding friends, the participants preference to interact with established friendships within and outside of the retirement village area aligned with prior research on the importance of old connections over efforts to create newer friendships (Park et al., 2017). Access to serviced apartments was a barrier for some participants friends, who lack the physical capacity to come into their apartments and thus placed the onus of maintaining contact on those residents who were able enough to walk to the independent areas. Increasing frailty has been noted by Nielson et al. (2019) as making continued contact among retirement village friends difficult to maintain.

Friendships formed over extended time periods were given greater importance, with participants reporting friends from the independent areas, as well as old friends from their younger years making up most of their friendships. The accounts of these friendships suggested emotional depth and companionship among older friendships, e.g., 'we can weep on each other's shoulders'. Potts (1997) spoke of the important role of friends in offering support by way of assisting in transportation and shopping from within retirement villages and neighbourhood settings. Although retirement villages offered transport to supermarkets for residents to do their grocery shopping, the ability of some residents to rely upon their own support networks within the retirement village in accessing community facilities is preferred, with contact and social networks important in facilitating this. Reliance on friends for transport is noted as an important means of community engagement (Dabelko-Schoeny et al., 2021), and the decision to use friends to go shopping with when the retirement villages offer this service could reflect a desire for continued independence. Given that serviced apartments were originally designed to offer additional assistance on an as needed, individual basis (Dodd, 2018), those able to continue to manage their schedules independent from the village might prefer to do so.

Other participants reported having no friendships among other residents. Two participants in this study were unconnected to the region prior to their shift into the serviced apartments, having only family living locally. These participants were also the only two that reported not having made friends, labelling local relationships in superficial terms or as acquaintances. This superficiality of relationships among serviced apartment residents was noted by Kemp et al. (2012), with the preference for family and closer friends taking precedence over forming newer friendships. This creates difficulty for those new to the facility, which accords with the experiences of these participants. Additionally, the lack of shared experience and local knowledge could create relational divides, with the importance of common histories and shared experiences being noted by other researchers as important to the establishment of friendships and community among residents in assisted living (Sefcik & Abbott, 2014: Bernard et al., 2012). However, relational experiences and willingness to engage with others might be influenced by personal characteristics, such as friendship styles and personality traits (Wright & Abbott, 2006: Lang et al., 1998).

Family connections and contact were drivers which led many participants to initially relocate to the region, with three participants choosing serviced apartments in retirement villages that were close to their children in the region. The importance of locality to younger family in residential choice reflects the positive associations that participants have in relation to their family members and the desire to be live in closer proximity to these important social networks is acknowledged in the literature (Weeks et al., 2012). Contact with family members was regular among participants, with family members often coming in visit serviced apartment residents.

Regarding activities, participants relied upon the retirement village to organise their social activities. Only one participant, who had many community engagements prior to relocation and continued to engage with these, preferring community-based activities over

retirement village organised activities. Participants reported a wide array of activities they liked to participate in, with many of these activities relating to their interest prior to shifting into the serviced apartments. Other participants noted that they were unable to continue in former activities because of the barriers caused by physical decline and transport issues.

Interestingly, the social component related to the activities was not mentioned by participants. This is notable for two reason. First, many of the activities, such as boules, snooker and card games often require multiple players to participate. Secondly, the regularity in which participants engaged in their chosen activities suggests that it is often the same people performing activities on a regular basis. While social factors could be influencing the decision to participate for residents, the accounts given suggest that enjoyment of the activity itself is a greater motivator for participation to residents.

Although physical decline inhibited certain activities, participants reported being satisfied with their level of engagement. The ability to find satisfaction in light of changing abilities shows that participants are accepting of their current conditions. Participants emphasised this willingness to adjust as their needs change by noting plans to relinquish community activities, such as church, in favour of those options offered within the retirement village when they are no longer able to go out. Grist (2010) noted the importance of adapting to capabilities as an important part of maintaining wellbeing, and our participants' willingness and acceptance of likely future need to rely more on village activities shows adaptability and acceptance. This also highlights the ability of the retirement villages to provide activities of importance to residents, promoting participation and engagement for serviced apartment residents.

Participants often spoke of friends being a means by which they accessed the community, either for pleasure or shopping. Access to transport is an important way that participants are able to continue engaging in activities of interest to them that are not

available to them through the village, such as watching horses at the track. These results are in line with those of Potts (1997) who emphasised the support of friends. Research by Vaughan et al. (2016) looked at factors conducive to community participation for older adults, finding no strong relationship between closeness to family and community engagement. Similarly, participants in this study had help from family members to do extra shopping but family was not noted as a means by which participants accessed the community for activities of interest. Two participants reported declining opportunities from children to get out of the retirement village for a time, instead preferring to remain within the village and receive guests due to the comfort they felt within the village. While other research has reported family members providing practical support (Bennett et al., 2017), participants appeared to rely on others before asking family for help.

Ongoing physical decline was noted by participants, resulting in them becoming increasingly insulated within the retirement village. Participants spoke of being 'basically confined to the village' as a result of their physical limitations. Physical limitations meant some participants could only manage walking short distances, while safety concerns meant others were afraid of leaving the retirement village premises unaccompanied. Other forms of disability, such as hearing loss, reduced the ability for participants to tolerate large groups, meaning they had to avoid groups of people in order to interact with others. The impact of disability, such as hearing loss has the potential to isolate residents (Mick et al., 2014), with one participant noting they cannot listen to the various entertainers the village brings in. Whilst limiting in some areas, hearing loss means that participants can enjoy more intimate conversations with friends.

The major form of dependency for participants resulted from the loss of their license and cars. As such, participants without mobility scooters required others to take them to and from the supermarket and other community activities. Most relied on the retirement village to

provide this transport while others had friends who could take them. The retirement village was the other main form of community access for participants, with the villages providing transport to and from the supermarket and planned social excursions into the community. The outings into the community are popular among participants, with residents often vying for spot and missing out and desiring additional trips. The popularity of these excursions suggests that older adults do seek novel experiences and community access, particularly among those with limited ability to leave the retirement village on their own volition. Loss of independence and isolation from the community as a result of physical decline is known to limit the degree to which older adults can participate (Goll et al., 2015), having the village offer this services provides an important service in enabling residents to feel more connected to the outside world. However, the availability of appropriate locations for the retirement villages to take residents is limited by environmental factors, such as limited parking or a lack of disability friendly access for those who need walkers. The lack of accessible buildings and other environmental features such as uneven ground are known impacts upon participation (Caman et al., 2014), and limit the destinations retirement villages are able to other residents.

Part of this research sought to understand how loneliness and isolation factored into the experiences of participants. Given the loss of transport, increased difficulties in visiting friends due to decline and distance, and the lack of the establishment of close relations among serviced apartment residents without prior relationships, the capacity for loneliness and isolation is apparent. Interestingly, no participant reported feeling lonely within the serviced apartments. One participant reported that loneliness was experienced prior to their shift into the retirement village but has not felt lonely since moving into the serviced apartments, attributing this to the constant presence of others around her. With loneliness often associated with a perceived lack of meaningful social connectedness to others (Adams et al., 2004), the availability of social contacts and friends within the serviced apartments and retirement

village as a whole appears to provide sufficient emotionally meaningful contact for residents. Although two participants noted an absence of friendships among coresidents, they did report feeling lonely suggesting that the social contact they have with fellow residents and their family members is sufficient to stave off loneliness. Shared accommodation has been shown to decrease incidence of loneliness among adults (de Jong Gierveld et al., 2012), with these findings appearing to be corroborated by the accounts of participants in this study.

# **Part Two: Theoretical Explanations**

Participants experiences suggest that elements of emotional based social selection may explain the findings. As a lifespan theory, socioemotional selectivity theory focuses on social networks and these are adjusted to consist of emotionally fulfilling partners and the discarding more casual others when an individual's perception of their time horizon is limited, such as with advanced age (Carstensen, 1992).

If emotional satisfaction and preference for established relationships were chief motivators in the construction of social networks, then forming friendships for older adults shifting into serviced apartments with no prior connections to coresident should be more difficult because of the preference of others to their own social networks. According to socioemotional selectivity theory, the lack of investment into the development of new friendships is motivated by the desire to engage with others with whom an individual receives positive emotional experiences (Carstensen, 1992). This appears to describe the tendency of older adults to have smaller, more intimate social networks with those they've known longer, while having little interest in forming new friendships. Participants noted friends as important resources of emotional support. Consistent with the socioemotional selectivity theory premise of discerning friendships that are able to be emotionally open and deeper than casual interactions (Wright & Patterson, 2006), participants friends fulfilled an important emotional function.

One participant's preference to have his daughter come to visit reflected his desire to maintain emotional satisfaction through ongoing interactions with his daughter while removing himself from the emotionally discomforting experiences he reports when in her home.

Participants experiences showed a deliberate decision to omit activities and interactions that they find unpleasant and uncomfortable. The adjustment of social interactions and the avoidance of perceived unpleasant environments are aligned with the premise of socioemotional selectivity theory (Carstensen, 1992). The location of social participation impacted on the decision making for participants, suggesting that while social partners are selected in regard to the emotional satisfaction obtained through these interactions, the context in which interactions appeared to be determined by affective considerations on residents' part (Carstensen et al., 2003).

Another theory that could describe the selection of social partners and activities reported by participants is selection, optimisation, and compensation theory. Selection, optimisation, and compensation theory recognises that individuals have limited resources, such as time and energy, that they can allocate to activities and people (Burnett-Wolle & Gobey, 2007).

Participants noted needing to retire to their apartments to rest and the issues caused by physical decline indicating the need to conserve energy due to tiredness. Due to the lower energy levels, participants must be selective about the types of activities they choose to participate in. The decision to prioritise certain activities over others and the efforts to retain important social connections can be seen as a conservation of energy to enable participation more personally meaningful pursuits. Reductions in physical capacity has meant that participants have had to adapt to changes in their ability, such as one-on-one conversations with friends due to difficulties hearing in crowds. Adapting to changes in functioning and

resources is an important mechanism relating to participation within selection, optimisation, and compensation theory (Baltes & Carstensen, 2003).

# **Implications**

Implications arose through the analysis of the data that might impact upon serviced apartments residents having meaningful social connections.

One implication from this research is the increased impact of physical decline on diminished social contact. As participants spoke of chiefly visiting their friends in the village due to the physical disabilities that stopped their friends coming to their home, any incident that effects participants physicality could make maintaining contact difficult, confining them more to their apartments.

Another area of interest that arose was the apparent difficulties that new residents to the serviced apartments did not have friendships with their coresidents. How a lack of meaningful social connection in their immediate environment might impact upon newly relocated residents is an area of concern. Although retirement village operators provide many opportunities for residents to interact and connect, there is a risk that some residents might experience loneliness resultant from the lack of close relations with fellow residents

### **Future Directions**

This study was, as far as the researcher was able to locate, the first of its kind in New Zealand to examine the social lives of serviced apartment residents and apply socioemotional selectivity to examine the social networks of these individuals. Future research might extend this research by directly assessing motivations for residents in their selection of social partners and activities, as well as assess how these relationships and activities might change over the length of stay within the serviced apartments. While the researcher asked participants how their social lives had changed since relocating into the serviced apartments, the parameters of this study meant that comparison between former community activities and

serviced apartment activities was not undertaken, how might the extent of participation be related to individuals' general behaviour trends over time?

Participant's descriptions of the types of activities they engage in noted the types of activities they engaged in, many of which required other participants. However, the social aspects of the activities were not disclosed as a motivating factor to participation, which has been found in other studies as reasons for engagement (Lazar & Nyugen, 2017; Janke et al., 2006). Further research could look more explicitly at the motivators for participation among older adults in serviced apartments.

This study focused on a small participant sample, within one region of New Zealand, so that the research could obtain a greater depth of participant experiences. While the social experiences of serviced apartments residents contained similar findings to those obtained overseas in assisted facilities, the limited amount of research on individuals within this increasingly offered living environment in New Zealand creates the opportunity for future research to examine an increasingly important form of living for older adults. As mentioned, this study took place within two retirement villages, however serviced apartments are offered in purpose-built facilities for older adults to live in. How living within serviced apartment villages has the potential to influence the sociality of residents not observed in retirement villages, which cater to older adults from independent to end of life care, creating opportunities for longer associations.

Further research might also focus on the social experiences of older adults from more diverse cultural background. While unintentional, this study contained participants who are of New Zealand European/European descent reflecting the general common ethnic makeup of retirement villages in New Zealand (Nielson et al., 2019). Examining how residents of different ethnicities using these facilities will help to gain greater understanding of the social lives of all older New Zealanders using utilising this lifestyle option.

# **Limitations of the Current Study**

There are a number of limitations associated with this research.

One limitation of this study was that all participants required a sufficient level of cognitive capacity and functionality to able to participate in this study. Although this was restricted for ethical reasons, this limited the ability of this research to understand sociality among serviced apartment residents with more severe forms of frailty.

Another limitation is the lack of cultural diversity within the sample of participants. Being all of European or New Zealand European means that the sample is relatively homogenous in terms of cultural identity. The lack of diverse cultural representation means that these results cannot be applied outside of cultural sphere within which the participants identify.

Using interpretative phenomenological analysis as the methodology, the current study was able to gain personal accounts of the social experiences of serviced apartments residents. However, as a qualitative epistemology, the use of interpretative phenomenological analysis has an impact on what can be garnered from the findings of this research. Firstly, no two participant experiences were the same, which while providing richer accounts of experiences that might be gained through the use of surveys or scales, means that any attempts at generalisation of the results to other populations is not advised.

The small number of participants, whilst appropriate within qualitative methods, limits the extent to which this particular sample might be representative of the wider population of serviced apartment residents. Although social experiences were unique for participants, the response rate of interested parties in relation to the number of invitations distributed could suggest that they are motivated to participate based on personality factors or past experiences as research participants, and the potential for vastly different experiences might have been

revealed by other residents, who may have hesitated to be interviewed out of concern for being identified.

Analysis was also conducted by one researcher, which results in interpretations and the themes I observed from the data are influenced by the viewpoint of the researcher and their own knowledge and experiences (Mays & Pope, 1995). My own subjective experiences with the research subject matter have been noted, as I have had interactions with serviced apartment residents as it occurred casually during my caregiving in retirement village. I have attempted to not let my personal experiences of older adults influence my interpretation of the experiences of participants, by remaining open to the validity of all participant experiences and giving every account equal chance of becoming a theme. The final themes were constructed from the overarching accounts of sociality among the participants, and it is hoped that they represent the commonality of experiences as reflected in the lived experiences of these participants.

Validity of the research could be an issue. As the results are based on interpretation of participants interpretations of their social experiences, and data was collected via interviews, there is a potential for the researcher to prime participants to respond in ways that confirmed researchers. Attempts to limit researcher interference involved using the same three open questions for each participant and reminding participants in the invitation and outset of the interview that I was interested in their social experiences. However, it should be noted that subsequent prompts for interview questions were influenced by previous participants responses that the researcher had not considered, or suggested questions participants made at the conclusion of the interview.

#### Conclusion

This research hoped to gain an increased understanding of serviced apartments residents' social lives. Using interviews obtained from seven participants within two larger scale retirement villages, interpretative phenomenological analysis revealed three themes to sociality: contact, participation, and dependency.

Key findings from this research reveal that serviced apartment residents are provided a variety of participation options, which they participate in when access to community activities is no longer possible. While residents have mostly positive interactions with one another, forming meaningful relationships is uncommon with residents prioritising contact with older friends they had before shifting into the apartments, and family. The village helps with access to the community, although the preference for participants is to maintain independence as much as possible, with support sought from friends or family before utilising the village services. This research had several implications relating to forming friendships for out-of-town relocators and the difficulties of maintaining contact with increased disability. Overall, serviced apartment resident appear to be satisfied with their social lives within the village, adapting to changes in their physicality and engaging in meaningful interactions with important others.

#### References

- ACC New Zealand. (2021). Staying safe from trips and falls. <u>Staying safe from trips and falls</u> (acc.co.nz)
- Adams, K. B., Sanders, S., & Auth, E. A. (2004). Loneliness and depression in independent living retirement communities: Risk and resilience factors. *Aging & mental health*, 8(6), 475-485.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., & Bowlby, J. (1991). An ethological approach to personality development. *American Psychologist*, 46(4), 333–341. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.46.4.333">https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.46.4.333</a>
- Amagasa, S., Fukushima, N., Kikuchi, H., Oka, K., Takamiya, T., Odagiri, Y., & Inoue, S. (2017). Types of social participation and psychological distress in Japanese older adults: A five year cohort study. *PLos ONE*, *12*(4), 1-12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175392">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175392</a>
- Andersson, L., & Stevens, N. (1993). Associations between early experiences with parents and well-being in olde age. *Journal of Gerontology*, 48(3), 109-116. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/48.3.P109
- Aroogh, M. D., & Shahboulaghi, F. M. (2020). Social participation of older adults: A concept analysis. *International Journal of Community Based Nursing and Midwifery*, 8(1), 55-72. <a href="https://doi.org/10.30476/IJCBNM.2019.82222.1055">https://doi.org/10.30476/IJCBNM.2019.82222.1055</a>
- Atchley, R. C. (1971). Retirement and leisure participation: continuity or crisis? *The Gerontologist*, 11(1), 13-17. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/11.1\_Part\_1.13
- Bai, X. (2014). Images of ageing in society: A literature review. *Journal of Population Ageing*, 7(3), 231-253. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12062-014-9103-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12062-014-9103-x</a>

- Baltes, M. M., & Carstensen, L. L. (2003). The process of successful aging: Selection, optimization, and compensation. In *Understanding human development* (pp. 81-104). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Barak, Y., Fortune, S., Glue, P., & Cheung, G. (2020). No country for older men: Ageing male suicide in New Zealand. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 28(4), 383-385. https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856220905304
- Bassuk, S. S., Berkman, L. F., & Amick, B. C. (2002). Socioeconomic status and mortality among the elderly: findings from four US communities. *American journal of Epidemiology*, 155(6), 520-533.
- Bassuk, S. S., Glass, T. A., & Berkman, L. F. (1999). Social disengagement and incident cognitive decline in community-dwelling elderly persons. *Annals of internal medicine*, *131*(3), 165-173.
- Beautrais, A. L. (2002). A case control study of suicide and attempted suicide in older adults. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *32*(1), 1-9. A Case Control Study of Suicide and Attempted Suicide in Older Adults Beautrais 2002 Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior Wiley Online Library (massey.ac.nz)
- Bekhet, A. K., Zauszniewski, J. A., & Nakhla, W. E. (2009). Reasons for relocation to retirement communities: A qualitative study. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 31(4), 462–479.
- Bennett, C. R., Frankowski, A. C., Rubinstein, R. L., Peeples, A. D., Perez, R., Nemec, M., & Tucker, G. G. (2017). Visitors and resident autonomy: Spoken and unspoken rules in assisted living. *The Gerontologist*, *57*(2), 252-260. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnv079
- Berkman, L. F. (2000). Social support, social networks, social cohesion and health. *Social* work in health care, 31(2), 3-14.

- Berkman, L. F., & Syme, S. L. (2017). Social networks, host resistance, and mortality: A nine-year follow-up study of Alameda County residents. *American Journal of Epideniology*, 185(11), 1070-1088. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx103">https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx103</a>
- Bernard, M., Liddle, J., Bartlam, B., Sim, J., & Scharf, T. (2012). Then and now: Evolving community in the context of a retirement village. *Ageing and Society*, *32*(1), 103-129. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X11000079
- Biordi, D. L., & Nicholson, N. R. (2013). Social isolation. *Chronic illness: Impact and intervention*, 85-115.
- Blakely, T., Tobias, M., Atkinson, J., Yeh, L. C., & Huang, K. (2007). *Tracking disparity:*trends in ethnic and socioeconomic inequalities in mortality, 1981-2004. Ministry of

  Health. <u>Tracking Disparity: Trends in ethnic and socioeconomic inequalities in mortality,</u>

  1981-2004 (health.govt.nz)
- Bowling, A. (1993). The concepts of successful and positive ageing. *Family Practice*, 10(4), 449-453. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/10.4.449
- Boyd, M., Calvert, C., Tatton, A., Wu, Z., Bloomfield, K., Broad, J. B., ... & Connolly, M. J. (2021). Lonely in a crowd: loneliness in New Zealand retirement village residents. *International psychogeriatrics*, *33*(5), 481-493.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. sage.
- Broad, J. B., Wu, Z., Bloomfield, K., Hikaka, J., Bramley, D., Boyd, M., ... & Connolly, M. J. (2020). Health profile of residents of retirement villages in Auckland, New Zealand: findings from a cross-sectional survey with health assessment. *BMJ open*, *10*(9), 1-14 e035876.full.pdf (massey.ac.nz)

- Burnett-Wolle, S., & Godbey, G. (2007). Refining research on older adults' leisure:

  Implications of selection, optimization, and compensation and socioemotional selectivity theories. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 39(3), 498-513.
- Burton, A. M., Haley, W. E., & Small, B. J. (2006). Bereavement after caregiving or unexpected death: Effects on elderly spouses. *Aging & Mental Healthm 10*(3), 319-326. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860500410045
- Butler, R. N. (1969). Age-ism: Another form of bigotry. *Gerontology*, 9(4), 243-246. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/9.4\_Part\_1.243
- Buunk, A. P., Groothof, H. A. K., & Siero, F. W. (2007). Social comparison and satisfaction with one's social life. *Journal of Social & Personal Relationships*, 24(2), 197-205. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407507075410
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Cacioppo, S. (2014). Social relationships and health: The toxic effects of percieved social isolation. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 8(2), 58-72. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12087
- Caman, O. K., Bicer, B. K., & Metin, B. C. (2014). Barriers and best practices for participation in urban life for people with disabilites: A qualitative photovoice study. *The Lancet*, 384(1), S5. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61868-7
- Carstensen, L. L. (1992). Social and emotional patterns in adulthood: support for socioemotional selectivity theory. *Psychology and aging*, 7(3), 331-338.
- Carstensen, L. L. (1995). Evidence for a life-span theory of socioemotional selectivity. *Current directions in Psychological science*, 4(5), 151-156.
- Carstensen, L. L. (1995). Evidence for a life-span theory of socioemotional selectivity. *Current directions in Psychological science*, *4*(5), 151-156.

- Carstensen, L. L., Fung, H. H., & Charles, S. T. (2003). Socioemotional selectivity theory and the regulation of emotion in the second half of life. *Motivation and emotion*, 27(2), 103-123.
- Chaudhury, H., Campo, M., Michael, Y., & Mahmood, A. (2016). Neighbourhood environment and physical activity in older adults. *Social Science & Medicine*, 149, 104-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.12.011
- Chen, S. L., Brown, J. W., Mefford, L. C., de La Roche, A., McLain, A. M., Haun, M. W., & Persell, D. J. (2008). Elders' decisions to enter assisted living facilities: a grounded theory study. *Journal of Housing for the Elderly*, 22(1-2), 86-103.
- Ciofi, J. M., Kemp, C. L., & Bender, A. A. (2022). Assisted living residents with dementia:

  Being out in the world and negotiating connections. *The Gerontologist*, 62(2), 200-211.
- Clarke, C. (2009). An introduction to interpretative phenomenological analysis: A useful approach for occupational therapy research. *British journal of occupational therapy*, 72(1), 37-40.
- Clarke, L. H., & Bennett, E. (2013). 'You learn to live with all the things that are wrong with you': gender and the experience of multiple chronic conditions in later life. *Ageing & Society*, 33(2), 342-360.
- Cole, T. R. (1992). *The journey of life: a cultural history of aging in America*. Cambridge University Press.
- Craik, F. I. M., Bialystok, E. (2006). Cognition through the lifespan: mechanisms of change.

  \*Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 10(3), 131-138.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2006.01.007

- Cukrowicz, K. C., Franzese, A. T., Thorp, S. R., Cheavens, J. S., & Lynch, T. R. (2008).

  Personality traits and percieved social support among depressed older adults. *Aging & Mental Health*, *12*(5), 662-669. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860802343258">https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860802343258</a>
- Cumming, E., & Henry, W. E. (1961). *Growing old: the process of disengagement*. Basic Books.
- Cutchin, M. P., Owen, S. V., & Chang, P. F. J. (2003). Becoming "at home" in assisted living residences: Exploring place integration processes. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 58(4), 234-243.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/58.4.S234">https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/58.4.S234</a>
- Cutler, D. M., & Meara, E. (2001). Changes in the age distribution of mortality over the 20th century. Changes in the Age Distribution of Mortality Over the 20th Century | NBER (massey.ac.nz)
- d'Epinay, C. J. L., Cavali, S., & Spini, D. (2003). The death of a loved one: Impact on health and relationships in very old age. *Omega: Journal of Death & Dying, 47*(3), 265-284. https://doi.org/10.2190/3GMV-PGL9-UD68-NEKW
- Dabelko-Schoeny, H., Maleku, A., Cao, Q., White, K., & Ozbilen, B. (2021). "We want to go, but there are no options": Exploring the barriers and facilitators of transportation among diverse older older. *Journal of Transport & Health*, 20.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2020.100994
- Dahan-Oliel, N., Gelinas, I., & Mazer, B. (2008). Social participation in the elderly: What does the literature tell us?. *Critical Reviews in Physical and Rehabilitation*Medicine, 20(2). 159-176
- Dalziel, L. (2001). The New Zealand positive ageing strategy: towards a society for all ages

  = he anga oranga kau mō ngā whakatipuranga katoa. Ministry of Social Policy.

- Davey, J. (2006). "Ageing in place": The views of older homeowners on maintenance, renovation and adaptation. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 27, 128 141.
- Davey, J. A., & Davies, M. (2006). Work in later life oppurtunity or threat? *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 27, 20 -27.
- Davey, J. A., Nana, G., Arcus, M., & De Joux, V. (2004). Accommodation options for older people in Aotearoa/New Zealand. [Centre for Housing Research].
- Day, S. (2004). Theory and design in counseling and psychotherapy. Routledge.
- de Jong Gierveld, J., Dykstra, P. A., & Schenk, N. (2012). Living arrangements, intergenerational support types and older adult loneliness in Eastern and Western Europe. *Demographic Research*, 27, 167-200.
- Diener, E., & Chan, M. Y. (2011). Happy people live longer: Subjective well-being contributes to health and longevity. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being, 3* (1), 1-43. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-0854.2010.01045.x
- Dimond, M., McCance, K., & King, K. (1987). Forced residential relocation: Its impact on the well-being of older adults. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 9(4), 445-464.
- Djundeva, M., Dykstra, P. A., & Fokkema, T. (2019). Is living alone "aging alone"? Solitary living, network types, and well-being. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B:*\*Psychological Sciences and Social Science, 74(8), 1406-1415.

  https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gby119
- Dodds, A. T. (2018). Old age, retirement villages and New Zealand society: a critical narrative analysis of the experiences of retirement village residents: a dissertation presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate in Clinical Psychology at Massey University, Albany, New Zealand [Doctoral dissertation, Massey University].

- Dykstra, P. A. (2009). Older adult loneliness: myths and realities. *European Journal of Ageing: Social, Behavioural and Health Perspective*, 6(2), 91-100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-009-0110-3
- Elliot, J., Gale, C. R., Parsons, S., & Kuh, D. (2014). Neighbourhood cohesion and mental wellbeing among older adults: A mixed methods approach. *Social Science & Medicine*, 107, 44-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.02.027
- Ertle, K. A., Glymore, M. M., & Berkman, L. F. (2009). Social networks and health: alife course perspective integrating observational and experimental evidence. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 26(1), 73-92.
- Espinosa-Alarcón, P., Péréz-Cuevas, R., Doubova, S., & Flores-Hernández, S. (2010). Social network types and functional dependency in older adults in Mexico. *BMC Public Health*, 10(1), 104. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-104
- Falkingham, J., & Johnson, P. (1992). Income and the elderly. *Reviews in Clinical Gerontology*, 2(4), 343-351.
- Ferguson, A., & Oz-Salzberger, F. (1995). *An essay on the history of civil society*. Cambridge University Press.
- Ferriera-Alves, J., Magalhães, P., Viola, L., & Simoes, R. (2014). Loneliness in middle and old age: Demographics, percieved health, and social satisfaction as predictors.

  \*Archives of Gerontology and Griatrics, 59(3), 613-623.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2014.06.010
- Filges, T., Siren, A., Fridberg, T., & Nielsen, B. C. (2020). Voluntary work for the physical and mental health of older volunteers: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, 16(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/c12.1124

- Finlay, L. (2002). "Outing" the researcher: The provenance, process, and practice of reflexivity. *Qualitative health research*, *12*(4), 531-545.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/104973202129120052">https://doi.org/10.1177/104973202129120052</a>
- Fiori, K. L., Smith, J., & Antonucci, T. C. (2007). Social network types among older adults:

  A multidimensional approach. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 62(6), 322-330.
- Flett, R. A., Kazantzis, N., Long, N. R., Millar, M. A., & MacDonald, C. (1999). Health care needs for older adults. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 115-135.
- Freund, A. M., & Baltes, P. B. (2002. Life-management strategies of selection, optimization and compensation: Measurement by self-report and construct validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(4), 642-662. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.4.642">https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.4.642</a>
- Gallagher, D. E., Thompson, L. W., & Peterson, J. A. (1982). Psychosocial factors affecting adaptation to be eavement in the elderly. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 14(2), 79-95.
- Gardner, I. L. (1994). Why People Move to Retirement Villages: homeowners and non-home owners. *Australian Journal on Ageing*, *13*(1), 36-40.
- Gerst-Emerson, K., & Jayawardhana, J. (2015). Loneliness as a public health issue: the impact of loneliness on health care utilization among older adults. *American journal of public health*, 105(5), 1013-1019.
- Gillespie-Bennett, J., Keall, M., Howden-Chapman, P., & Baker, M. G. (2013). Improving health, safety and energy efficiency in New Zealand through measuring and applying basic housing standards. *NZ Med J*, *126*(1379), 74-85.

- Glasgow, K. (2014). A new old age?: Exploring the values, attitudes and expectations of baby boomers and their implications for policy and practice in an ageing society. Revised (vuw.ac.nz)
- Golant, S. M. (2004). Do impaired older persons with health care needs occupy US assisted living facilities? An analysis of six national studies. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 59(2), 68-79.
- Goldhaber, R., & Donaldson, R. (2012). Alternative reflections on the elderly's sense of place in a South African gated retirement village. *South African Review of Sociology*, *43*(3), 64-80. https://doi.org/10.1080/21528586.2012.727548
- Goll, J. C., Charlesworth, G., Scior, K., & Stott, J. (2015). Barriers to social participation among lonely older adults: The influence of social fears and identity. *PLoS ONE*, 10(2), 1-17.
- Graham, V. (2002). A community within a community: talking about life in a retirement village: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters of Arts in Psychology at Massey University [Massey University].
- Graham, V., & Tuffin, K. (2004). Retirement villages: Companionship, privacy and security. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, *23*(4), 184-188.
- Grant, B. C. (2006). Retirement villages: an alternative form of housing on an ageing landscape. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*.
- Grant, B. C. (2007). Retirement villages: More than enclaves for the aged. *Activities*, *Adaptation & Aging*, 31(2), 37-55.
- Greenfield, E. A., & Marks, N. F. (2007). Religious social identity as an explanatory factor for associations between more frequent formal religious participation and psychological well-being. *The international journal for the psychology of religion*, 17(3), 245-259.

- Grinshteyn, E. G., & Sugar, J. A. (2021). Percieved neighbourhood safety and volunteerism among older adults. *Ageing and Society*, 41(12), 2914-2932. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0144686X20000677
- Grist, V. L. (2010). The relationships between age of disability onset, adaptation to disability, and quality of life among older adults with physical disabilities. The Florida State University.
- Groger, L., & Kinney, J. (2006). CCRC here we come! Reasons for moving to a continuing care retirement community. *Journal of Housing for the Elderly*, 20(4), 79-101. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1300/J081v20n04\_06">https://doi.org/10.1300/J081v20n04\_06</a>
- Hajek, A., Brettschneider, C., Eisele, M., Mallon, T., Oey, A., Wiese, B., ... & König, H. H. (2021). Social support and functional decline in the oldest old. *Gerontology*, 1-9.
- Han, A., Brown, D., & Richardson, A. (2019). Older adults' perspectives on volunteering in an activity-based social program for people with dementia. *Activities, Adaptation & Aging*, 43(2), 145-163.
- Hand, C., Law, M., Hanna, S., Elliott, S., & McColl, M. A. (2012). Neighbourhood influences on participation in activities among older adults with chronic health conditions. *Health & Place*, 18(4), 869-876.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2012.03.004
- Hardie, J. (2014). Hear to care: The role of caregivers in the spiritual care of residents in New Zealand rest homes. Hear to Care: The role of caregivers in the spiritual care of residents in New Zealand Rest Homes (vuw.ac.nz)
- Havens, B., Hall, M., Sylvestre, G., & Jivan, T. (2004). Social isolation and loneliness:

  Differences between older rural and urban Manitobans. *Canadian Journal on Aging*,

  23(2), 129-140. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1353/cja.2004.0022">https://doi.org/10.1353/cja.2004.0022</a>

- Havighurst, R. J. (1957). The social competence of middle-aged people. *Genetic Psychology Monographs*, 56, 297-375.
- Ministry of Health New Zealand. (2016). Healthy Ageing Strategy. Healthy Ageing Strategy
- Hendricks, J., & Cutler, S. J. (2004). Volunteerism and socioemotional selectivity in later life. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 59(5), 251-257.
- Henriksen, J., Larsen, E. R., Mattisson, C., & Andersson, N. W. (2019). Loneliness, health and mortality. *Epidemiological and Psychiatric Sciences*, 28(2), 234-239. https://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796017000580
- Herron, R. V., Funk, L. M., Spencer, D., & Wrathall, M. (2020). Assisted living facilities as sites of encounter: Implications for older adults' experiences of inclusion and exclusion. *Ageing & Society*, 40(7), 1577-1593.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686x19000187">https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686x19000187</a>
- Hochschild, A. R. (1975). Disengagement theory: A critique and proposal. *American Sociological Review*, 553-569.
- Holt-Lunstad, J. (2017). The potential public health relevance of social isolation and loneliness: Prevalence, epidemiology, and risk factors. *Public Policy & Aging Report*, 27(4), 127-130.
- Hossain, Z., Eisberg, G., & Shwalb, D. W. (2018). Grandparents' social identities in cultural context. *Contemporary Social Science*, *13*(2), 275-287.
- House, J. S. (2002). Understanding social factors and inequalities in health: 20<sup>th</sup> century progress and 21<sup>st</sup> century prospects. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour, 43*(2), 125-142.
- Hubbard, G., Tester, S., & Downs, M. G. (2003). Meaningful social interactions between older people in institutional care settings. *Ageing & Society*, 23(1), 99-114.

- Hughes, M. E., Waite, L. J., LaPierre, T. A., & Luo, Y. (2007). All in the family: The impact of caring for grandchildren on grandparents' health. *The Journals of Gerontology*Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 62(2), 108-119. All in the

  Family: The Impact of Caring for Grandchildren on Grandparents' Health | The

  Journals of Gerontology: Series B | Oxford Academic (massey.ac.nz)
- Huxhold, O., Fiori, K. L., & Windsor, T. D. (2013). The dynamic interplay of social network characteristics, subjective well-being, and health: the costs and benefits of socioemotional selectivity. *Psychology and aging*, 28(1), 3-16.
- Huxhold, O., Miche, M., & Schüz, B. (2014). Benefits of having friends in older ages:

  Differential effects of informal and social activities on well-being in middle-ages and older adults. *Journal of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 69(3), 366-275. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbt029
- Iliffe, S., Kharicha, K., Harari, D., Swift, C., Gillmann, G., & Stuck, A. E. (2007). Health risk appraisal in older people 2: the implications for clinicians and commissioners of social isolation risk in older people. *British Journal of General Practice*, *57*(537), 277-282.
- Jamieson, H. A., Gibson, H. M., Abey-Nesbit, R., Ahuriri-Driscoll, A., Keeling, S., & Schluter, P. J. (2018). Profile of ethnicity, living arrangements and loneliness amongst older adults in Aotearoa New Zealand: A national cross-sectional study. *Australasian journal on ageing*, 37(1), 68-73.
- Janke, M., Davey, A., & Kleiber, D. (2006). Modelling change in older adults' leisure activities. *Leisure Sciences*, 28(3), 285-303.

- Jaul, E., & Barron, J. (2017). Age-related diseases and clinical and public health implications for the 85 years old and older populations. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 5.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00335">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00335</a>
- Jefferies, S., French, N., Gilkison, C., Graham, G., Hope, V., Marshall, J., ... & Priest, P. (2020). COVID-19 in New Zealand and the impact of the national response: a descriptive epidemiological study. *The Lancet Public Health*, *5*(11), 612-623.
- Jirovec, R. L., & Hyduk, C. A. (1999). Type of volunteer experience and health among older adult volunteers. *Journal of gerontological social work*, 30(3-4), 29-42.
- Johnson, C. L., & Troll, L. E. (1994). Constraints and facilitators to friendships in late late life. *Gerontologists*, *34*(1), 79-87. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/34.1.79
- Kang, H. S., & Ahn, B. (2018). Older adults' social relations: life satisfaction to widowhood. *Journal of Human Services: Training, Research, and Practice, 3*(2), 1-22.
- Kearns, A., Whitley, E., Tannahill, C., & Ellaway, A. (2015). 'Lonesome town'? Is loneliness associated with the residential environment, including housing and neighborhood factors? *Journal of Community Psychology*, 43(7), 849-867.
- Keelan, T. J., Stewart, K., Te Awekotuku, N., Nikora, L. W., Edge, K., & McRae, O. (2021).

  The case of a change in meaning and its impact. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, *16*(1), 168-179.
- Kemp, C. L., Ball, M. M., Hollingsworth, C., & Perkins, M. M. (2012). Strangers and friends: Residents' social careers in assisted living. *Journals of Gerontology Series B:*\*Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 67(4), 491-502.
- Kennedy, G. j., Kelman, H. R., & Thomas, C. (1990). The emergence of depressive symptoms in late life: The importance of declining health and increasing disability.

  \*Journal of Community Health: The Publication of Health Promotion and Disease Prevention, 15(2), 939-104. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01321314

- Kerr, D. (2016). Predictors of and changes in older adults' loneliness in New Zealand: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Psychology at Massey University, Palmerston North New Zealand [Massey University]
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method-phenomenology. *Asian Social Science*, *10*(21). 298-310.
- Kotlarczyk, M. P., Hergenroeder, A. L., Gibbs, B. B., Cameron, F. D. A., Hamm, M. E., & Brach, J. S. (2020). Personal and environmental contributors to sedentary behavior of older adults in independent and assisted living facilities. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 17(17), 1-14.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176415">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176415</a>
- Krendl, A. C., & Wolford, G. (2013). Cognitive decline and older adults' perception of stigma controllability. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 68(3), 333-336.
- Kuerbis, A., Sacco, P., Blazer, D. G., & Moore, A. A. (2014). Substance abuse among older adults. *Clinics in geriatric medicine*, *30*(3), 629-654.
- Kwag, K. H., Martin, P., Russell, D., Franke, W., & Kohut, M. (2011). The impact of perceived stress, social support, and home-based physical activity on mental health among older adults. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 72(2), 137-154.
- Lang, F. R., & Carstensen, L. L. (1994). Close emotional relationships in late life: Further support for proactive aging in the social domain. *Psychology and Aging*, 9(2), 315-324.
- Lang, F. R., Staudinger, U. M., & Carstensen, L. L. (1998). Perspectives on socioemotional selectivity in late life: How personality and social context do (and do not) make a

- difference. The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 53(1), 21-30.
- Lansford, J. E., Sherman, A. M., & Antonucci, T. C. (1998). Satisfaction with social networks: an examination of socioemotional selectivity theory across cohorts. *Psychology and aging*, *13*(4), 544 -552.
- Lara, E., Caballero, F. F., Rico-Uribe, L. A., Olaya, B., Haro, J. M., Ayuso-Mateos, J. L., & Miret, M. (2019). Are loneliness and social isolation associated with cognitive decline? *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, *34*(11), 1613-1622.
- Larkin, M., & Thompson, A. (2012). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Qualitative research methods in mental health and psychotherapy: A guide for students and practitioners*. In Thompson, A. R., & Harper, D. *Qualitative research methods in mental health and psychotherapy: a guide for students and practitioners*., 99-116. John Wiley & Sons.
- Law Commission. (1999). Report 57: Retirement Villages. Government Print, Wellington.
- Lazar, A., & Nguyen, D. H. (2017). Successful leisure in independent living communities:

  Understanding older adults' motivations to engage in leisure activities. *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Proceedings*, 2017, 7042-7056.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1145/3025453.3025802">https://doi.org/10.1145/3025453.3025802</a>
- Leigh-Hunt, N., Bagguley, D., Bash, K., Turner, V., Turnbull, S., Valtorta, N., & Caan, W. (2017). An overview of systematic reviews on the public health consequences of social isolation and loneliness. *Public health*, *152*, 157-171.
- Leigh-Hunt, N., Bagguley, D., Bash, K., Turner, V., Turnbull, S., Valtorta, N., & Caan, W. (2017). An overview of systematic reviews on the public health consequences of social isolation and loneliness. *Public health*, *152*, 157-171.

- Levasseur, M., Cohen, A. A., Dubois, M. F., Généreux, M., Richard, L., Therrien, F. H., & Payette, H. (2015). Environmental factors associated with social participation of older adults living in metropolitan, urban, and rural areas: The NuAge Study. *American journal of public health*, 105(8), 1718-1725.
- Levasseur, M., Cohen, A. A., Dubois, M. F., Généreux, M., Richard, L., Therrien, F. H., & Payette, H. (2015). Environmental factors associated with social participation of older adults living in metropolitan, urban, and rural areas: The NuAge Study. *American journal of public health*, 105(8), 1718-1725.
- Levasseur, M., Desrosiers, J., & Noreau, L. (2004). Is social participation associated with quality of life of older adults with physical disabilities?. *Disability and* rehabilitation, 26(20), 1206-1213. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280412331270371
- Levasseur, M., Desrosiers, J., & Whiteneck, G. (2010). Accomplishment level and satisfaction with social participation of older adults: association with quality of life and best correlates. *Quality of Life Research*, 19(5), 665-675.
- Levassuer, M., Richard, L., Gauvin, L., & Raymond, É. (2010). Inventory and analysis of definitions of social participation found in the aging literaure: Proposed taxonomy of social activities. *Social Science & Medicine*, 71(12), 2141-2149.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.09.041">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.09.041</a>
- Levy, B. (1996). Improving memory in old age through implicit self-stereotyping. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 71(6), 1092.
- Li, P. S. (2004). Social capital and economic outcomes for immigrants and ethnic minorities. *Journal of International Migration and Integration/Revue de l'integration et de la migration internationale*, 5(2), 171-190.

- Lindström, M., Hanson, B. S., & Östergren, P. O. (2001). Socioeconomic differences in leisure-time physical activity: the role of social participation and social capital in shaping health related behaviour. *Social science & medicine*, 52(3), 441-451.
- Löckenhoff, C. E., & Carstensen, L. L. (2004). Socioemotional selectivity theory, aging, and health: The increasingly delicate balance between regulating emotions and making tough choices. *Journal of personality*, 72(6), 1395-1424.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00301.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00301.x</a>
- Longino, C. F., & Kart, C. S. (1982). Explicating activity theory: A formal replication. *Journal of Gerontology*, *37*(6), 713-722.
- Lövdén, M., Ghisletta, P., & Lindenberger, U. (2005). Social participation attenuates decline in perceptual speed in old and very old age. *Psychology and aging*, 20(3), 423-434.
- Luo, Y., Zhang, L., & Pan, X. (2019). Neighbourhood environments and cognitive decline among middle-age and older people in China. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 74(7), 60-71. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbz016
- Lykes, V. A., & Kemmelmeier, M. (2014). What predicts loneliness? Cultural difference between individualistic and collectivistic societies in Europe. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 45(3), 468-490.
- Makita, M., Mas-Bleda, A., Stuart, E., & Thelwall, M. (2021). Ageing, old age and older adults: a social media analysis of dominant topics and discourses. *Ageing & Society*, 41(2), 247-272. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X19001016
- Martin, T. (2019). *Better Later Life He Oranga Kaumatua 2019 to 2034*. New Zealand. <a href="https://superseniors.msd.govt.nz/documents/better-later-life/better-later-life-strategy.pdf">https://superseniors.msd.govt.nz/documents/better-later-life/better-later-life-strategy.pdf</a>.

- Martins, A. I., Queirós, A., Cerqueira, M., Rocha, N., & Teixeira, A. (2012). The international classification of functioning, disability and health as a conceptual model for the evaluation of environmental factors. *Procedia Computer Science*, 14, 293-300. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2012.10.033">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2012.10.033</a>
- Martinson, M., & Minkler, M. (2006). Civic engagement and older adults: A critical perspective. *The Gerontologist*, 46(3), 318-324.
- Matthews, T. M. (2015). The social location of older New Zealanders' housing decisions: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Psychology at Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Mays, N., & Pope, C. (1995). Qualitative research: rigour and qualitative research. *Bmj*, *311*(6997), 109-112.
- McDonnell, M., Bryan. J., Smith, A., & Esterman, A. (2011). Assessing cognitive impairment following stroke. *Journal of Clinical & Experimental Neuropsychology*, 33(9), 945-953. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2011.575769
- McHugh, K., & Fletchall, A. (2009). Memento mori: The "Death" of Youngtown.

  Professional Geographer, 61(1), 21-35. https://doi.org/10.1080/00330120802577608
- Mendes de Leon, C. S., Glass, T. A., & Berkman, L. F. (2003). Social engagement and disability in a community population of older adults: The New Haven EPESE.

  \*\*American journal of Epidemiology, 157(7), 633-642.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwg028
- Mick, P., Kawachi, I., & Lin, F. R. (2014). The association between hearing loss and social isolation in older adults. *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, 150(3), 378-384.
- Minhat, H. S., Rahmah, M. A., & Khadijah, S. (2013). Continuity theory of ageing and leisure participation among elderly attending delected health clinics in Selangor. International Medical Journal Malaysia, 12(2), 51-58.

- Ministry of Health. (2016). Health conditions in older people. *Retrieved from:* Health conditions in older people | Ministry of Health NZ.
- Morgan, T., Wiles, J., Park. H. L., Moeke-Maxwell, T., Dewes, O., Black, S., Williams, L., & Gott, M. (2021). Social connectedness: what matters to older people? *Ageing & Society*, *41*(5), 1126-1144.
- Musick, M. A., Herzog, A. R., & House, J. S. (1999). Volunteering and mortality among older adults: Findings from a national sample. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *54*(3), 173-180.
- Nahum-Shani, I., & Bamberger, P. A. (2011). Work hours, retirement, supportive relations among older adults. *Journal of Organisational Behaviour*, 32(2), 345-369. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.662
- Neville, S., Napier, S., Shannon,, K., & Adams, J. (2021). Beginning on an age-friendly journey: Barriers to implementing age-friendly initiatives. *Australasion Journal on Ageing*, 40(4), 287-293. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/ajag.12930">https://doi.org/10.1111/ajag.12930</a>
- New Zealand Government. (2020). *Retirement age*. <u>Retirement age | New Zealand</u> Government (www.govt.nz)
- Nicholson, N. R. (2012). A review of social isolation: an important but underassessed condition in older adults. *The journal of primary prevention*, *33*(2-3), 137-152.
- Nielson, L., Wiles, J., & Anderson, A. (2019). Social exclusion and community in an urban retirement village. *Journal of aging studies*, 49, 25-30.
- Nyqvist, F., Häkkinen, E., Renaud, A., Bouchard, L., & Prys, C. (2021). Social exclusion among official language minority aolder adults: a rapid review of the literature in Canada, Finland and Wales. *Journals of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, *36*(3), 285-307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10823-021-09433-z

- O'Connell, D. C., & Kowal, S. (1994). Some current transcription systems for spoken discourse: A critical analysis. *Pragmatics*, *4*(1), 81-107.
- Oakley Browne, M. A. (2006). Lifetime prevalence and lifetime risk of DSM-IV disorders. *Te Rau Hinengaro: The new Zealand Mental Health survey. Wellington:*Ministry of Health. Lifetime Prevalence and Projected Lifetime Risk of DSM-IV

  Disorders in Te Rau Hinengaro: The New Zealand Mental Health Survey

  (massey.ac.nz)
- O'Connor, B. P. (1995). Family and friend relationships among older and younger adults:

  Interaction motivation, mood, and quality. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 40(1), 9-29. <a href="https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/doi/pdf/10.2190/b37n-k317-ky8q-0tnw">https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/doi/pdf/10.2190/b37n-k317-ky8q-0tnw</a>
- Office for Disability, New Zealand. (2019). Disability action plan, 2019-2023. <u>Disability</u>

  Action Plan 2019-2023 Office for Disability Issues (odi.govt.nz)
- Osborn, D. (2001). The poor physical health of people with mental illness. *Western Journal od Medicine*, 175(5), 329-332.
- Ostir, G. V., Ottenbacher, K. J., Fried, L. P., & Guralnik, J. M. (2007). The effects of depressive symptoms on the associateion between functional status and social participation. *Social Indicators Research*, 80(2), 379-392.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-005-6189-9">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-005-6189-9</a></a>
- Park, N. S. (2009). The relationship of social engagement to psychological well-being of older adults in assisted living facilities. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 28(4), 461-481. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464808328606
- Park, N. S., Zimmerman, S., Kinslow, K., Shin, H. J., & Roff, L. L. (2012). Social engagement in assisted living and implications for practice. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 31(2), 215-238.

- Park, S., Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C., Ntoumanis, N., Stenling, A., Fenton, S. A., & Veldhuijzen van Zanten, J. J. C. S. V (2017). Profiles of physical function, physical activity, and sedentary behavior and their associations with mental health in residents of assisted living facilities. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, *9*(1), 60-80.
- Patterson, I. (1996). Participation in leisure activities by older adults after a stressful life event: The loss of a spouse. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 42(2), 123-142. <a href="https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/doi/pdf/10.2190/TG1M-75CB-PL27-R6G3">https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/doi/pdf/10.2190/TG1M-75CB-PL27-R6G3</a>
- Peat, G., Rodriguez, A., & Smith, J. (2019). Interpretive phenomenological analysis applied to healthcare research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 22(1), 7-9. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2018-103017
- Perissinotto, C. M., & Covinsky, K. E. (2014). Living alone, socially isolated or lonely—
  What are we measuring? *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 29(11), 1429-1431.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-014-2977-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-014-2977-8</a></a>
- Perkins, M. M., Ball, M. M., Kemp, C. L., & Hollingsworth, C. (2013). Social relations and resident health in assisted living: An application of the convoy model. *The Gerontologist*, 53(3), 495-507.
- Perlman, D., & Peplau, L. A. (1985). Loneliness research: A survey of empirical findings. *Preventing the harmful consequences of severe and persistent loneliness*. In Peplau, L. A., & Goldston, S. E. (Eds.). *Preventing the Harmful Consequences of Severe and Persistent Loneliness: Proceedings of a Research Planning Workshop Held in Cooperation with the Department of Psychology, University of California, Los Angeles, February 10-12, 1982 (Vol. 5). US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Alcohol, Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration, National Institute of Mental Health.*

- Pinquart, M., & Sorensen, S. (2001). Influences on loneliness in older adults: A metaanalysis. *Basic and applied social psychology*, 23(4), 245-266.
- Pledger, M., McDonald, J., Dunn, P., Cumming, J., & Saville-Smith, K. (2019). The health of older New Zealanders in relation to housing tenure: Analysis of pooled data from three consecutive, annual New Zealand health surveys. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 43(@), 182-189. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12875
- Pool, I., Du Plessis, R. (2020). *'Families: A history colonial families: 1840-1879'*, Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. <a href="https://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/graph/30193/birth-rates-1861-2017">https://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/graph/30193/birth-rates-1861-2017</a>
- Potts, M. K. (1997). Social support and depression among older adults living alone: The importance of friends within and outside of retirement community. *Social Work*, 42(4), 348-362.
- Pressman, S. D., Matthews, K. A., Cohen, S., Martire, L. M., Baum, A., & Schulz, R. (2009).

  Association of enjoyable leisure activities with psychological and physical well-being.

  Psychosomatic Medicine, 71(&), 725-732.

  https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181ad7978
- Prince, M., Patel, V., Saxena, S., Maj, M., Maselko, J., Phillips, M. R., & Rahman, A. (2007).

  No health without mental health. *Lancet*, *370*(9590), 859-877.
- Raskin, J. D. (2002). Constructivism in psychology: Personal construct psychology, radical constructivism, and social constructionism. *American communication journal*, *5*(3), 1-25.
- Reimer, B., Lyons, T., Ferguson, N., & Polanco, G. (2008). Social capital as social relations:

  The contributions of normative structures. *The Sociological Review*, 56(2), 256-274.
- Reitzes, D. C., Mutran, E. J., & Verrill, L. A. (1995). Activities and self-esteem: Continuing the development of activity theory. *Research on aging*, 17(3), 260-277.

- Richard, L., Gauvin, L., Gosselin, C., & Laforest, S. (2009). Staying connected: neighbourhood correlates of social participation among older adults living in an urban environment in Montreal, Quebec. *Health promotion international*, 24(1), 46-57.
- Robison, L. J., Schmid, A. A., & Siles, M. E. (2002). Is social capital really capital? *Review of social economy*, 60(1), 1-21.
- Roe, B., Howell, F., Riniotis, K., Beech, R., Crome, P., & Ong, B. N. (2008). Older people's experiences of falls: Understanding, interpretation and autonomy. *Journal od Advanced Nursing (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 63(6), 586-596.
- Röhr, S., Löbner, M., Gühne, U., K., Kleineidam, L., Pentzek, M., ... & Riedel-Heller, S. G. (2020). Changes in social network size are associated with cognitive changes in the oldest-old. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *11*, 330. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00330
- Rose, A. M. (1964). A current theoretical issue in social gerontology. *The Gerontologist*, 4(1), 46-50. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/4.1.46
- Rowe, J. W., Kahn, R. L. (1987). Human aging: Usual and Successful. *Science*, 237(4811), 143-149.
- Rozzini, R., Bianchetti, A., Franzoni, S., Zanetti, O., & Trabucchi, M. (1991). Social, functional and health status influences on mortality: Consideration of a multidimensional inquiry in a large elderly population. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 6(1), 83-90.
- Rüber, I. E. (2020). Continuation and changes in civil participation during adulthood. A matter of education and learning? *Journal for educational research online*, 12(3), 50-74.
- Sadock, B. J., Sadock, V. A., & Ruiz, P. (2014). *Kaplan & Sadock's synopsis of psychiatry:* behavioral sciences/clinical psychiatry (11ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

- Same, A., McBride, H., Liddlelow, C., Mullan, B., & Harris, C. (2020). Motivations for volunteering time with older adults. A qualitative study. *PLos One*, *15*(5). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232718">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232718</a>
- Santrock, J. (2015). Essentials of Life-span development (3ed). New York: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Sargent-Cox, K. A., Anstey, K. J., & Luszcz, M. A. (2014). Longitudinal change of selfperceptions of aging and mortality. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 69(2), 168-173.
- Saville-Smith, K., & Fraser, R. (2014). Retirement Village Housing Resilience

  Survey. Community Resilience and Good Ageing: Doing Better in Bad Times.
- Scharf, T., Phillipson, C., & Smith, A. E. (2005). Social exclusion of older people in deprived urban communities of England. *European Journal of Ageing: Social, Behavioural and Health Perspective*, 2(2), 76-87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-005-0025-6
- Schnittker, J. (2007). Look (closely) at all the lonely people: Age and the social psychology of social support. *Journal of Aging and Health*, *19*(4), 659–682. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264307301178
- Sefcik, J. S., & Abbott, K. M. (2014). "Right Back to Square One Again": The experiences of friendships among assisted living residents. *Activities, Adaptation and Aging, 38*(1), 11-28. https://doi.org/10.1080/01924788.2014.878872
- Shea, L., Thompson, L., & Blieszner, R. (1988). Resources in older adults' old and new friendships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *5*(1), 83-96. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407588051005
- Shear, M. K., Ghesquiere, A., & Glickman, K. (2013). Bereavement and complicated grief.

  Current Psychiatry Reports, 15(11), 1-7.

- Shiba, K., Kondo, N., Kondo, K., Kawachi, I. (2017). Retirement and mental health: Does social participation mitigate the association? A fixed-effects longitudinal analysis. BMC Public Health, 17(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4427-0
- Shinebourne, P. (2011). The Theoretical Underpinnings of Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA). Existential Analysis: Journal of the Society for Existential Analysis, 22(1). 16-31
- Simpson, M., & Cheney, G. (2007). Marketization, participation, and communication within New Zealand retirement villages: a critical—rhetorical and discursive analysis. *Discourse & Communication*, *1*(2), 191-222.
- Singer, C. (2018). Health effects of social isolation and loneliness. *Journal of Aging life* care, 28(1), 4-8. ALCA Journal Spg18\_FINAL.pdf (aginglifecare.org)
- Slevitch, L. (2011). Qualitative and quantitative methodoliges compared: Ontological and epistemological prespectives. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality and Tourism*, 12(1), 73-81. https://doi.org/10.1080/1528008X.2011.541810
- Sloane, P. D., Zimmerman, S., Gruber-Baldini, A. L., Hebel, J. R., Magaziner, J., & Konrad, T. R. (2005). Health and functional outcomes and health care utilization of persons with dementia in residential care and assisted living facilities: comparison with nursing homes. *The Gerontologist*, 45(suppl\_1), 124-132. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/45.suppl\_1.124
- Smith, L., Thompson, A., Grootveld, C., & Lamb-Yorski, R. (2019). *This is our story : a qualitative research report on living with dementia*. Alzheimers New Zealand.
- Smith, J.A. and Osborn, M. 2008. "Interpretative phenomenological analysis". In Smith, J. A.

  \*Qualitative psychology: a practical guide to research methods. (51–80). London: Sage.

- Statistics New Zealand (2013). Loneliness in New Zealand: Findings from the 2010 NZ General Social Survey. <a href="https://www.stats.govt.nz">www.stats.govt.nz</a>.
- Statistics New Zealand. (2013). Census QuickStats about people aged 65 and over. *Statistics*New Zealand: Wellington, New Zealand.
- Statistics New Zealand. (2015). *People aged 65+ living in New Zealand*. People aged 65+ living in New Zealand | Stats NZ
- Statistics New Zealand. (2021). National and subnational periods life table: 2017 2019.

  Retreived from: National and subnational period life tables: 2017–2019 | Stats NZ.
- Stenner, P., Mcfarquhar, T., & Bowling, A, (2011). Older people and 'active ageing':

  Subjective aspects of ageing actively. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 16(3), 467-477.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105310384298
- Stephens, C. (2017). From success to capability for healthy ageing: Shifting the lens to include all older people. *Criticial Public Health*, 27(4), 490-498. https://doi.org/10.1080/09581596.2016.1192583
- Stephens, C., & Allen, J. (2022). Older people as active agents in their neighborhood environments: Movign house can improve qualtity of life. *Gerontologist*, 62(1), 56-65. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnab065">https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnab065</a>
- Stephens, C., Allen, J., Keating, N., Szabó, Á., & Alpass, F. (2020). Neighborhood environments and intrinsic capacity interact to affect the health-related quality of life of older people in New Zealand. *Maturitas*, 139, 1-5.
- Stephens, C., Alpass, F., & Towers, A. (2010). Economic hardship among older people in New Zealand: Effects of low living standards on social support loneliness and mental health. *New Zealand Psychological Society*. *39*(2), 49-55.

- Stephens, C., Alpass, F., Towers, A., & Stevenson, B. (2011). The effects of types of social networks, perceived social support, and loneliness on the health of older people:

  Accounting for the social context. *Journal of aging and health*, 23(6), 887-911.
- Stephens, C., Szabó, Á., Allen, J., & Alpass, F. (2019). Livable environments and the quality of life of older people: An ecological perspective. *The Gerontologist*, 59(4), 675-685.
- Stevens, J. A., & Sogolow, E. D. (2005). Gender differences for non-fatal unintentional fall related injuries among older adults. *Injury prevention*, 11(2), 115-119.
- Stowe, J. D., & Cooney, T. M. (2015). Examining Rowe and Kahns' concept of successful aging: Importance of taking a life course perspective. *The Gerontologist*, 55(1), 43-50.
- Street, D., Burge, S., Quadagno, J., & Barrett, A. (2007). The salience of social relationships for resident well-being in assisted living. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B:*\*Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 62(2), 129-134.
- Strobl, R., Maier, W., Ludyga, A., Mielck, A., & Grill, E. (2016). Relevance of community structures and neighbourhood characteristics for participation of older adults: a qualitative study. *Quality of Life Research*, 25(1), 143-152.
- Sturge, J., Klaassens, M., Lager, D., Weitkamp, G., Vegter, D., & Meijering, L. (2021).

  Using the concept of activity space to understand the social health of older adults living with memory problems and dementia at home. *Social Science & Medicine*, 288, 113208. <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113208">https://doi-org.ezproxy.massey.ac.nz/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113208</a>
- Sundström, G., Fransson, E., Malmberg, B., & Davey, A. (2009). Loneliness among older Europeans. *European journal of ageing*, 6(4), 267-275.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-009-0134-8

- Szabó, Á., Allen, J., Stephens, C., & Alpass, F. (201). Is retirment associated with physical health benefits? A longitudinal investigation with older New Zealanders. *Age & Ageing*, 48(2), 267-272. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afy176
- Tang, F., & Morrow-Howell, N. (2008). Involvement in voluntary organizations: How older adults access volunteer roles?. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 51(3-4), 210-227.
- Taylor, M. A., Goldberg, C., Shore, L. M., & Lipka, P. (2008). The effects of retirement expectations and social sipport on post-retirement adjustment. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 23(4), 458-470. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940810869051
- Teo, A. R., Choi, H., Andrea, S. B., Valenstein, M., Newsom, J. T., Dobscha, S. K., & Zivin, K. (2015). Does mode of contact with different types of social relationships predict depression in older adults? Evidence from a nationally representative survery. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63(10), 2014-2022.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13667">https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13667</a>
- Thompson, M. G., & Heller, K. (1990). Facets of support related to well-being: Quantitative social isolation and perceived family support in a sample of elderly women. *Psychology and Aging*, *5*(4), 535–544.
- Tomioka, K., Kurumatani, N., & Hosoi, H. (2017). Association between social participation and 3-year change in instrumental activities of daily living in community-dwelling elderly adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 65(1), 107-113. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.14447
- Tomioka, K., Kurumatani, N., & Hosoi, H. (2018). Social participation and cognitive decline among community-dwelling older adults: A community-based longitudinal study. *Journals of Gerontology Series B Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 73(5), 799–806. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw059

- Trigg, R., Watts, S., Jones, R., & Tod, A. (2011). Predictors of quality of life ratings from persons with dementia: the role of insight. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 26(1), 83-91.
- Tuffour, I. (2017). A critical overview of interpretative phenomenological analysis: A contemporary qualitative research approach. *Journal of Healthcare Communications*, 2(4), 1-5.
- Turner, R. J., Lloyd, D. A., & Taylor, J. (2006). Physical disability and mental health: An epidemiology of psychiatric and substance disorders. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 51(3), 214 223
- Ungvarsky, J. (2021). Activity theory (aging). Salem Press Encyclopedia.
- Utz, R. L., Carr. D., Nesse, R., & Wortman, C. B. (2002). The effect of widowhood on older adults' social participation: An evaluation of activity, disengagement, and continuity theories. *Gerontologist*, 42(4), 522-533. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/42.4.522
- van Groenou, M. B., & Deeg, D. J. (2010). Formal and informal social participation of the 'young-old'in The Netherlands in 1992 and 2002. *Ageing & Society*, 30(3), 445-465. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X09990638
- van Tilburg, T. (2003). Consequences of men's retirement for the continuation of work-related personal relationships. *Ageing International*, 28(4), 345-358.
- Van Willigen, M. (2000). Differential benefits of volunteering across the life course. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 55(5), 308-318.
- Vaughan, M., LaValley, M. P., AlHeresh, R., & Keysor, J. J. (2016). Which features of the environment impact community participation of older adults? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of aging and health*, 28(6), 957-978.

- Vergahen, I., Ros, W. J. G., Steunenberg, B., & de Wit, N. J. (2013). Culturally sensitive care for elderly immigrants through ethnic community health workers: Design and development of a community based intervention programme in the Netherlands. *BMC Public Health*, 13(1), 1-8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-227">https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-227</a>
- Viscogliosi, C., Asselin, H., Basile, S., Borwick, K., Couturier, Y., Drolet, M. J., Gagnon, D., Obradovic, N., Torrie, J., Zhou, D., & Levsseur, M. (2020). Importance of Indigenous elders' contribution to individual and community wellness: Results from a scoping review on social participation and intergenerational solidarity. *Canadian Journal of Public Health: A Publication of The Canadian Public Health Association*, 111(5), 667-681. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-019-00292-3
- Wadensten, B. (2006). An analysis of psychosocial theories of ageing and their relevance to practical gerontological nursing in Sweden. *Scandinavian journal of caring sciences*, 20(3), 347-354.
- Walker, C. A., Curry, L. C., & Hogstel, M. O. (2007). Relocation stress syndrome in older adults transitioning from home to a long-term care facility: Myth or reality? *Journal of psychosocial nursing and mental health services*, 45(1), 38-45.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20070101-09">https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20070101-09</a>
- Warburton, J., Terry, D. J., Roseman, L. S., & Shapiro, M. (2001). Differences between older volunteers and nonvolunteers: attitudinal, normative, and control beliefs. *Research on Aging*, 23(5), 586-605. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027501235004
- Weeks, L. E., Keefe, J., & Macdonald, D. J. (2012). Factors predicting relocation among older adults. *Journal of Housing for the Elderly*, 26(4), 355-371.
- Weeks, L., & Roberto, K. (2003). The impact of falls on quality of life: Empowering older women to address falls prevention. *Quality in Ageing and Older Adults*, 4(3), 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1108/14717794200300015

- Wen, M., Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2006). Objective and perceived neighborhood environment, individual SES and psychosocial factors, and self-rated health: An analysis of older adults in Cook County, Illinois. *Social science & medicine*, 63(10), 2575-2590.
- Wertheimer, A., & Miller, F. G. (2008). Payment for research participation: a coercive offer? *Journal of Medical Ethics*, *34*(5), 389-392. https://doi.org/10.1136/jme.2007.021857
- Westerhof, G. J., & Keyes, C. L. (2010). Mental illness and mental health: The two continua model across the lifespan. *Journal of adult development*, 17(2), 110-119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10804-009-9082-y
- Wiles, J. L., Allen, R. E., Palmer, A. J., Hayman, K. J., Keeling, S., & Kerse, N. (2009).
  Older people and their social spaces: A study of well-being and attachment to place in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Social Science & Medicine*, 68(4), 664-671.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.11.030">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.11.030</a>
- Wilmoth, J. R. (2000). Demography of longevity: past, present, and future trends. *Experimental Gerontology*, 35(9), 1111-1129. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(00)00194-7">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(00)00194-7</a>
- Wilson, J. (2000). Volunteering. Annual review of sociology, 26(1), 215-240.
- Wilson, K. B. (2007). Historical evolution of assisted living in the United States, 1979 to the present. *The Gerontologist*, 47(3), 8-22. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/47.supplement\_1.8
- World Health Organization. (2002). *Active ageing: A policy framework.*, Geneva. Retrieved from: <a href="http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2002/WHO\_NMH\_NPH\_02.8.pdf?ua=1">http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2002/WHO\_NMH\_NPH\_02.8.pdf?ua=1</a>

- Wright, K. B., & Patterson, B. R. (2006). Socioemotional selectivity theory and the macrodynamics of friendship: The role of friendship style and communication in friendship across the lifespan. *Communication Research Reports*, 23(3), 163-170.
- Wu, B. (2020). Social isolation and loneliness among older adults in the context of COVID-19: a global challenge. *Global health research and policy*, *5*(1), 1-3.
- Yeung, P., Good, G., O'Donoghue, K., Spence, S., & Ros, B. (2017). What matters most to people in retirement villages and their transition to residential aged care. *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work*, 29(4), 84-96.

### **Appendix A**

#### **Information Sheet One**



UNIVERSITY OF NEW ZEALAND

The Social Experiences of Older Adults in Serviced Apartments.

Hello,

My name is Jodie Hajdu. I am a Master's student at Massey University and would like to invite you to participate in my research on the social participation opportunities for people living in the Serviced Apartments in Retirement Villages.

## **About my study**

I am interested in the social worlds of residents in Serviced Apartments. For this research, your experiences of social activities both in your village and outside will be an important contribution.

Through examining social experiences, more can be done to support and enable meaningful social opportunities for yourselves. I am interested in all perspectives and experiences of social life for people living in Serviced Apartments.

## Your role in the study

I am asking for you to take part in an interview (about 1 hour). I will ask you about your experience of the opportunities for socialising and your participation in any activities with others (e.g., friends, fellow residents, family, club members).

## How the information will be used

Our interview will be recorded digitally with your permission. The recording will be transcribed and analysed to search for similar ideas across all the interviews.

Your name and the name of your Retirement Village will remain anonymous to ensure your own and other participants' privacy. The transcription, audio files, consent forms, and notes will be kept in locked files and folders. All participants will be provided a pseudonym.

The results of the analysis will be used in my Master's thesis, a summary will be provided to you if desired, shared with Retirement Village managers, and will become a part of the academic research literature.

## Are you eligible?

To take part in this study you will be living in a Serviced Apartment in your Village and be able to be interviewed in English.

## Your rights as a participant

If you agree to be interviewed, you have the right to:

- Withdraw from the study at any time prior to analysis of the data.
- Refuse to answer any questions at any time.
- Ask any questions relating to the study at any time.
- Expect confidentiality around your identity in all aspects relating to this research and the published report.
  - Ask for the recorder to be turned off at any stage during the interview.
- Ask to have another person present during the interview (they may be required to sign a confidentiality and consent form).
  - Be given a copy of their interview transcript, if desired.
- Be given a summary of the findings at the completion of the study, if desired.

## What can you expect from the researcher?

- To uphold your rights;

134

To be treated with respect, and dignity at all times;

To maintain high ethical standards;

To work hard to increase awareness of social participation experiences

for older adults to the wider community.

How do you participate?

If you are interested in taking part, please contact me. I will answer any questions you

have and arrange an interview time at a place that suits you.

Jodie Hajdu

Phone: 0800 100134

Email: Jodie.Hajdu.1@uni.massey.ac.nz

If you wish to contact my supervisor, the contact details are as follows:

**Professor Christine Stephens** 

**Phone:** 06 951 8059

Email: C.V.Stephens@massey.ac.nz,

Thank you for time.

Regards

Jodie Hajdu

This project has been reviewed and approved by the Massey University Human Ethics

Committee: Southern A, Application 21/31. If you have any concerns about the conduct of this

research, please contact Dr Negar Partow, Chair, Massey University Human Ethics

Committee: telephone 04 801 5799 63363. Southern A. х email

humanethicsoutha@massey.ac.nz.

## **Appendix B**

## **Consent Form for Participants**



The Social Experiences of Older Adults Living in Serviced Apartments

## PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

I declare that I have had read or been read the Information Sheet attached. I understand the details of the study and have volunteered myself to participate in the research. I understand that I may withdraw from the study at any time up to the analysis of the data. I understand that by signing this consent form, I agree to the conditions of the research as set out in the Information Sheet.

- 1. I agree to the interview being recorded.
- 2. I agree to participate in this study under the conditions set out in the Information Sheet.
  - 3. I would like/not like a copy of my interview transcript\*.

## **Declaration by Participant:**

I	hereby consent to take part in this study.
	— · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

(Full name)

*If you would like a copy of your transcript, please include address here:  Residential number:		<b></b>	
Residential number:	Signature:	Date:	
Residential number:			
Residential number:			
Residential number:			
Residential number:	*I6 6 6		
	*11 you would like a copy of yo	our transcript, please include address nere:	
Address:	Residential number:		
Address:			
	Address:		

### **Appendix C**

#### **Information Sheet Two**



UNIVERSITY OF NEW ZEALAND

The Social Experiences of Older Adults in Serviced Apartments.

Hello,

My name is Jodie Hajdu. I am a Master's student at Massey University and would like to invite you to participate in my research on the social participation opportunities for people living in the Serviced Apartments in Retirement Villages.

## About my study

I am interested in the social worlds of residents in Serviced Apartments. For this research, your experiences of social activities both in your village and outside will be an important contribution.

Through examining social experiences, more can be done to support and enable meaningful social opportunities for yourselves. I am interested in all perspectives and experiences of social life for people living in Serviced Apartments.

## Your role in the study

I am asking for you to take part in an interview (about 1 hour). I will ask you about your experience of the opportunities for socialising and your participation in any activities with others (e.g., friends, fellow residents, family, club members).

To thank you for your time and help you will be given a Prezzie gift card worth \$25.00

How the information will be used

Our interview will be recorded digitally with your permission. The recording will be transcribed and analysed to search for similar ideas across all the interviews.

Your name and the name of your Retirement Village will remain anonymous to ensure your own and other participants' privacy. The transcription, audio files, consent forms, and notes will be kept in locked files and folders. All participants will be provided a pseudonym.

The results of the analysis will be used in my Master's thesis, a summary will be provided to you if desired, shared with Retirement Village managers, and will become a part of the academic research literature.

### Are you eligible?

To take part in this study you will be living in a Serviced Apartment in your Village and be able to be interviewed in English.

## Your rights as a participant

If you agree to be interviewed, you have the right to:

- Withdraw from the study at any time prior to analysis of the data.
- Refuse to answer any questions at any time.
- Ask any questions relating to the study at any time.
- Expect confidentiality around your identity in all aspects relating to this research and the published report.
  - Ask for the recorder to be turned off at any stage during the interview.
- Ask to have another person present during the interview (they may be required to sign a confidentiality and consent form).
  - Be given a copy of their interview transcript, if desired.
- Be given a summary of the findings at the completion of the study, if desired.

139

What can you expect from the researcher?

To uphold your rights;

To be treated with respect, and dignity at all times;

To maintain high ethical standards;

To work hard to increase awareness of social participation experiences

for older adults to the wider community.

How do you participate?

If you are interested in taking part, please contact me. I will answer any questions you

have and arrange an interview time at a place that suits you.

Jodie Hajdu

Phone: 0800 100134

Email: Jodie.Hajdu.1@uni.massey.ac.nz

If you wish to contact my supervisor, the contact details are as follows:

**Professor Christine Stephens** 

**Phone:** 06 951 8059

Email: C.V.Stephens@massey.ac.nz,

Thank you for time.

Regards

Jodie Hajdu

This project has been reviewed and approved by the Massey University Human Ethics

Committee: Southern A, Application 21/31. If you have any concerns about the conduct of this

research, please contact Dr Negar Partow, Chair, Massey University Human Ethics

Committee: Southern A, telephone 04 801 5799 x 63363, email humanethicsoutha@massey.ac.nz.

## **Appendix D**

#### Interview schedule

Greetings and opening banter.

#### Preamble:

Permission to record and signed consent form.

(Modified) Older Adults Capacity to Consent to Research (OACCR) scale (Smith,

Thompson, Grootveld & Lamb- Yorski, 2019) What is the purpose of the research?

- 1. Tell me some things you may be asked about?
- 2. What are the things that might worry you about taking part in the research?
- 3. If you don't want to, do you have to take part in the research?

## **Background questions**

Age

Length of residence

**Marital Status** 

Number of children

## **Interview questions**

I am wanting to know about your social life, can you tell me...

What you do socially?

prompts

- o In the village?
- Out of the village?
- O Who with?

Has your social life changed since moving here?

**Prompts** 

- New friends
- Old friends
- Activities (were you sporty? Did you volunteer? Crafts? Wood work?)
- o Level
- Satisfaction
- Location (community, or retirement village, visiting family)

# Do you want to change anything about your social life?

## Prompts

- More time with family, friends
- Opportunities to participate.
- Accessible activities (within and outside the village)
- o Relation to staff
- Options
- Co-residents (cliques, privacy)

Conclusion, thanks, and parting information

Give the gift to participants with thanks